

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2017

Marketing Strategies: How Small Restaurant Businesses use Social Media

Tasheenia Bennett Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Č Part of the <u>Advertising and Promotion Management Commons</u>, and the <u>Marketing Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Tasheenia Bennett

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

- Dr. Patricia Fusch, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty
- Dr. Timothy Malone, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty
- Dr. Richard Snyder, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2017

Abstract

Marketing Strategies: How Small Restaurant Businesses use Social Media

by

Tasheenia M. Bennett

ME, Western Carolina University, 2010 BS, Empire State College, 2008

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

March 2017

Abstract

Social media has changed the way businesses relate to their customers. Since the beginning of social media, traditional methods of communicating with customers have begun to decline. The purpose of this multicase study was to determine the strategies of 5 owners of small restaurant businesses in Western North Carolina who successfully used social media marketing for 1 year or more. Rogers's diffusion of innovation theory was the conceptual framework for this study. Data collection included semistructured interviews, documents pertaining to social media marketing strategies, and social media pages and websites from the participating restaurants. These data were analyzed following Yin's 5-step analysis plan. The themes that emerged were social media platforms, word-of-mouth, and challenges implementing social media. Facebook, Yelp, and Instagram were the most used social media platforms. The participants implied that word-of-mouth has the potential to increase sales and to grow business. Challenges implementing social media included the ability to be consistent and actively engaged on the social media sites to allow business owners to respond quickly to negative posts made by customers. Small restaurant businesses can be successful if they develop and implement a social media presence, encourage customer feedback, and formulate a plan to overcome obstacles and challenges that may arise with implementing social media marketing strategies. These findings contribute to positive social change by increasing the sustainability of small businesses in the community, which may drive economic development and improve community relations.

Marketing Strategies: How Small Restaurant Businesses use Social Media

by

Tasheenia M. Bennett

ME, Western Carolina University, 2010 BS, Empire State College, 2008

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

March 2017

Dedication

I dedicate this study to my family with love. Their continued support and encouragement made this journey possible.

Acknowledgments

I am grateful for my support system. Team Bennett: Bo, Saniya and Derick, thank you for believing in me. Thank you Dr. Gregory Banks and Dr. Patricia Fusch (Committee Chairpersons) for your feedback, guidance, and motivation throughout this process, Dr. Timothy Malone (Committee Member) for your insight and marketing expertise, and Dr. Richard Snyder (URR) for your contributions and feedback on my study. Above all, thanks to God for the blessings of strength and determination to pursue and earn a doctorate.

Table of Contents

List of Tables
Section 1: Foundation of the Study
Background of the Problem
Problem Statement
Purpose Statement
Nature of the Study
Research Question5
Interview Questions5
Conceptual Framework5
Operational Definitions6
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations
Assumptions
Limitations
Delimitations8
Significance of the Study9
Contribution to Business Practice 9
Implications for Social Change9
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature10
Online Communities
Overview of Social Media
Social Media Platforms 14
Social Media Marketing

Challenges with Social Media	. 18
Social Media and Traditional Marketing	. 21
Word-of-Mouth	. 23
Social Media with Hospitality Businesses	. 24
Customer Relationship Management	. 26
Creating Value	. 27
Marketing Return on Investment	. 28
Improved Business Practice	. 29
Conceptual Framework	. 30
Transition	39
Section 2: The Project	40
Purpose Statement	40
Role of the Researcher	40
Participants	41
Research Method and Design	42
Research Method	. 42
Research Design	. 44
Population and Sampling	45
Ethical Research.	46
Data Collection Instruments	47
Data Collection Technique	48
Data Organization Technique	49
Data Analysis	50

Reliability and Validity	51
Reliability	51
Validity	51
Transition and Summary	52
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	53
Introduction	53
Presentation of the Findings.	53
Emergent Theme One: Social Media Platforms	56
Emergent Theme Two: Word-of-Mouth	60
Emergent Theme Three: Challenges Implementing Social Media	62
Connecting Findings to Conceptual Framework	65
Applications to Professional Practice	66
Implications for Social Change	68
Recommendations for Action	69
Recommendations for Further Research	70
Reflections	70
Conclusion	72
References	73
Appendix A: Interview Questions	95
Appendix B: Interview Protocol	96

List of Tables

Table 1. Review of Participants' Social Media Presence	58
Table 2. Review of Participants' Facebook Posts	59
Table 3. Facebook User Activity	61

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Traditional methods of advertising such as radio, direct mail, cold calls, billboards, signage, television, magazines, newspapers, and brochures have become less important since the emergence of new technologies in the early 2000s (Patino, Pitta, & Quinones, 2012). Some businesses have shifted to social media (Patino et al., 2012). Business owners attribute revamped marketing, operations, and management to social media (Rauniar, Rawski, Yang, & Johnson 2014).

Social media is a relatively low-cost marketing tool businesses can use to expand reach to customers in less time than other marketing tools (Hassan, Nadzim, & Shiratuddin, 2015). New businesses can succeed due to the low cost of social media marketing (Hassan et al., 2015). Using social media offers opportunities for businesses because of the significant user base and because social media supports interaction with consumers, employees, and other stakeholders versus traditional media, which is one-way communication (Rauniar et al., 2014). Communication on social media allows users to interact with many at one time, rather than traditional methods of one-to-one communication as with direct mail and print ads (Patino et al., 2012). Business leaders can use social media to transcend former marketing strategies to interact with consumers and other stakeholders, which gives the ability to relate to other aspects of their business such as marketing (Rauniar et al., 2014). The purpose of the proposed qualitative multicase study was to determine the strategies that small restaurant business owners in Western North Carolina (WNC) use to support social media marketing.

Background of the Problem

The onset of more efficient marketing tools, such as the Internet and social media are increasingly replacing traditional marketing (Bruhn, Schoenmueller, & Schäfer, 2012). Traditional marketing tools include (a) radio, (b) direct mail, (c) cold call sales, (d) billboards, (e) signage, (f) television, (g) magazines, (h) newspapers, and (i) brochures (Bruhn et al., 2012). Social media tools are powerful when businesses conduct effective planning and implementation of integrated marketing efforts (Schlinke & Crain, 2013) to include the blending of traditional and nontraditional marketing.

Businesses face challenges when implementing social media (Schlinke & Crain, 2013). Companies struggle with how to incorporate social media tools into their marketing strategies (Andzulis, Panagopoulos, & Rapp, 2012), and they use social media without a fully integrated marketing effort (Schultz & Peltier, 2013). Few businesses have strategies to use social media to promote sales (Hassan et al., 2015). Schlinke and Crain (2013) listed the following four considerations for integrating social media into a marketing strategy: (a) goals of the business, (b) strategy for content, (c) tools and implementation usage, and (d) associated risks. Patino et al. (2012) identified the following problems with using social media for market research: (a) the lack of demographics of its users, (b) lack of data control, (c) data quality and external validation, and (d) messages are subject to interpretation.

Problem Statement

Some small businesses are reluctant to engage in social media to connect with customers because of their lack of knowledge on social media marketing strategies

(Agnihotri, Kothandaraman, Kashyap, & Singh, 2012). Taneja and Toombs (2014) stated that only 26% of small businesses used social media effectively to reach potential customers and increase sales. The general business problem is that some business owners do not use social media as a means of marketing. The specific business problem is that some small restaurant business owners lack strategies to support social media marketing.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multicase study was to explore the strategies that small restaurant business owners use to support social media marketing. The target population was five small restaurant business owners in WNC, who successfully used social media marketing for 1 year or more. The results of this study might contribute to positive social change by assisting small restaurant businesses in gaining and retaining customers, growing their business, and increasing employment. Increased employment could improve the standard of living in local communities.

Nature of the Study

I used a qualitative research methodology for this study. Employing qualitative research helps with understanding the meaning of the real life experiences of others (Maxwell, 2013). The researcher's intent and goal in a study are to answer the research question (Boblin, Ireland, Kirkpatrick, & Robertson, 2013). Researchers use qualitative methods to determine a plan of action or to gain understanding of how to accomplish objectives, whereas most quantitative methods involve hypotheses (Maxwell, 2013). For this reason, quantitative methodology was not a good choice for this research study, because I conducted an exploratory study and did not have hypotheses. I collected data

using a combination of interviews, analysis of collected documents, and a review of the businesses' online public social media sites to explore social media marketing strategies in depth. Qualitative and quantitative research methods used together create the mixed method approach to research (Maxwell, 2013). In this research study, a mixed method approach was not appropriate, because I conducted an exploratory study which requires qualitative methods only. I collected and analyzed only qualitative data from interviews, document collection, and a review of the businesses' online public social media sites.

I used the multicase study research design for this study. Researchers use case study research design to explore programs, events, or activities that involve one or more individuals (Yin, 2014). Case study research was most appropriate for this study to uncover meaning and understanding of social media marketing phenomena when little information exists.

Researchers use the ethnographic design to focus on understanding an entire cultural group (Sangasubana, 2011), which was not appropriate for this study because the participants were small restaurant business owners, not a cultural group. Researchers use grounded theory design to develop a theory (Hays & Wood, 2011). No theory development took place in this research study. Grounded theory was not the chosen design. Researchers employ the phenomenological design to study the lived experiences of participants in a study (Moustakas, 1994). I explored the social media marketing strategies of the participants rather than their lived experiences. Researchers use the narrative design to tell life stories (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000). Narrative research was not suitable because I did not explore the life stories of the participants.

Research Question

The central research question was: What strategies do small restaurant business owners use to support social media marketing?

Interview Questions

- 1. What social media marketing strategies do you use?
- 2. What motivated you to use social media marketing strategies?
- 3. What are the obstacles you faced while developing and implementing social media marketing strategies?
- 4. What social media strategies are most effective or beneficial for your company?
- 5. What social media strategies are least effective or beneficial for your company?
- 6. How do you measure the performance of each social media you engage in?
- 7. How do you use search engine optimization?
- 8. What additional strategies can you share regarding your social media marketing strategies?
- 9. What else should I be asking you about using social media marketing for restaurants?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework for this study was the diffusion of innovation theory (Rogers, 2003). Diffusion of innovation occurs when members of the social system adopt an innovation, such as a new idea or practice, over time (Rogers, 2003). The four major components involved in the diffusion of innovations process are (a) innovation, (b) communication channels, (c) time, and (d) social system (Rogers, 2003). Information

sharing occurs through communication channels within a social system (Rogers, 2003). Rogers (2003) classified the members of a social system as (a) innovators, (b) early adopters, (c) early majority, (d) late majority, and (e) laggards (p. 22) to describe the point in time which an individual adopts an innovation. The rate of adoption is the speed it takes to adopt an innovation (Rogers, 2003). A social system is a group of members who share a common goal (Rogers, 2003).

The diffusion of innovation theory applies to the marketing strategies used by small restaurant businesses who support social media marketing. The innovation element of the theory is the practice of marketing via non-traditional channels (Rogers, 2003). The communication channels used for marketing include social media platforms such as Facebook, LinkedIn, Pinterest, and Twitter. One method for companies to understand the impact of social media is to measure the success from inception to the usage phase. After the company implements social media marketing, the final element becomes the creation of a social system, which supports ongoing interaction with consumers and stakeholders.

Operational Definitions

In the definition of terms section, I clarified the terms used in this study. This section includes a selection of terms that may be easily confused within context. The definitions provide clarity to prevent readers from misinterpreting the information provided regarding social media marketing.

Customer value: Customer value is the customer's perception of benefits received (Agnihotri et al., 2012).

Marketing return on investment (MROI): MROI is the result of expenditures made on marketing contributions such as direct mail and advertising (Mitchell & Olsen, 2013).

Small business: For the purpose of this study, small business is a business having fewer than 500 employees (SBA, 2016a).

Social media: Social media is an umbrella term used to describe virtual environments where people engage with each other such as Twitter, Facebook, Youtube, LinkedIn, Myspace, and Instagram (Komodromos, 2014).

Social media tools: Social media tools are online forums and communities, recommendations, ratings and reviews used to interact with other online users (Hajli, 2013). Social media outlets, social media platforms, and social media tools are interchangeable throughout the literature.

Traditional marketing: Traditional marketing such as radio, billboards, signage, and newspapers are publicity and press coverage, in which businesses generate activity through professionally published or broadcast content (Stephen & Galak, 2012).

Tweet: A tweet is a text-based message (maximum of 140 characters) sent out by Twitter users (Wasike, 2013).

User-generated content: User generated content is the communication created when consumers share information and opinions through social media platforms (Papasolomou & Melanthiou, 2012).

Web 2.0: Web 2.0 is technical infrastructure that facilitates user-generated content (Barreto, 2014).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions are general knowledge claims that provide guidelines for the research purpose (Leedy & Ormrod, 2013). This study included various assumptions on my part. My first assumption was that the research participants understood the interview questions and responded truthfully and accurately. The second assumption was that the semistructured interview questions and business documents lead to enough data to answer the central research question of the study. The third assumption was that the research participants were able to convey their marketing strategies and experiences while participating in a semistructured interview process.

Limitations

Simon and Goes (2013) stated that a limitation is something that a researcher cannot control, which may negatively influence a study. There were two limitations of this study. The first limitation was that the research participants may not have fully engaged during the interview process. Another limitation resulted from potential lack of information and available documents, which was my second method of data collection.

Delimitations

Delimitations are restrictions that researchers impose when determining the scope of the study (Leedy & Ormrod, 2013). In this multicase study, there were three delimitations. The first delimitation was that participants were small restaurant business owners. Another delimitation was a limited geographic area (WNC). The final

delimitation was that the small restaurant business owners had to have at least 1 year of experience using social media as a marketing tool.

Significance of the Study

Contribution to Business Practice

The goal of this study was to provide insights into the effective social media marketing strategies used by small restaurant business owners in WNC. Businesses use social media to gain access to a multitude of people, and social media aids in the development of firm's credibility, expands the customer base and supplier contacts, highlights access to resources and available funding, encourages innovation, and helps develop strategic partnerships (Harris, Rae, & Misner, 2012). Personal relationships with customers, such as those obtained from social media, fuel the growth of small businesses by keeping them in constant contact globally and within the local community (Harris et al., 2012). The results of this study could contribute to effective business practice by identifying what social media platforms are most beneficial for small restaurant marketing. Social media marketing usage could alter hiring practices because businesses would want people who are social media savvy, and it could affect how restaurants interact with customers in the long term.

Implications for Social Change

In this research study, I provided a better understanding of new strategies to support social media marketing. Small businesses engage in social media marketing to promote visibility and awareness of their brand within the local community (Taneja & Toombs, 2014). Small business's social media marketing strategies aid in community

involvement by encouraging the community to interact with peers and the wider environment to increase visibility, viability, and sustainability (Taneja & Toombs, 2014). The sustainability of small businesses could increase employment and the standard of living for local residents. In turn, these businesses might help contribute to the economy of their community, drive economic development, and improve community relations.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this qualitative multicase study was to explore successful social media marketing strategies implemented by small restaurant businesses. The research question guiding this study was: What strategies do small restaurant business owners use to support social media marketing? In this research study, I discussed and explored literature about social media marketing while providing background on different methods, tools, and strategies used for marketing. I also addressed social media challenges identified by researchers, the value of social media, and a review of previous studies.

Research databases that I used to find the literature included: ABI/INFORM
Complete, EBSCOhost, Business Source Complete, Google Scholar, and
Multidisciplinary databases. The search generated references to scholarly and peerreviewed articles. During database searches, I used the following primary and secondary
search terms: social media, Facebook, LinkedIn, marketing, Twitter, e-marketing, online
marketing, small business marketing, Internet marketing, hospitality business marketing,
restaurant marketing, social media marketing, traditional marketing, Web 2.0,
advertising, word-of-mouth, and marketing strategies. This study included 170

references. Of those 170 references, 159 (94%) were peer reviewed, and 149 (88%) had a publication date less than 5 years of receiving Walden University's chief academic officer (CAO) approval. This literature review contained 154 references. Of those 154 references, 149 references (97%) are peer reviewed, and 141 references (92%) have a publication date within 5 years of receiving Walden University's CAO approval. I organized the literature review by the following themes (a) online communities, (b) overview of social media, (c) social media platforms, (d) social media marketing, (e) challenges of social media, (f) social media and traditional marketing, (g) word-of-mouth, (h) social media with restaurants, (i) customer relationship management, (j) creating value, (k) return on investment, (l) improved business practice, and (m) conceptual framework.

Online Communities

Web 2.0 uses World Wide Web (WWW) technologies to create virtual communities, which pass control of the content on the WWW to Internet users (Erragcha & Romdhane, 2014). Web 2.0 users reach outside their personal network to obtain product and service recommendations from unknown people (Barreto, 2014). Consumergenerated advertising is a revolutionary change in marketing. Businesses should align their traditional marketing media with consumer-generated content to obtain competitive advantage (Erragcha & Romdhane, 2014).

Businesses achieve better customer relationship management by participating in online communities (Hajli, 2014). Businesses maintain community relationships by actively engaging and overseeing by collaborating, conversing, and connecting with

online communities (Parsons, 2013). Virtual communities provide an opportunity for social bonding (Chua & Banerjee, 2013). The social benefits obtained through viral communities increase interaction among users (Wolny & Mueller, 2013). Business managers and owners learn from the interactive engagements within viral communities to develop products and services specific to the needs of the community (Taneja & Toombs, 2013). Not all visitors who use social media outlets are potential customers, but rather customers who want to be a part of a community or to seek information (Zhu & Chen, 2015).

Chua and Banerjee (2013) suggested the use of online communities for market insight, customer-client loyalty, customer support, product development, knowledge management, and recruiting. Online discussion forums and virtual communities help companies uncover strengths and weaknesses of their own and that of their competitor's offerings (Agnihotri et al., 2012). Businesses having online community involvement help increase demand for products, help marketers identify key influences, and provide marketers with insight into customers' wants and needs (Kumar & Mirchandani, 2012). Consumers look to online communities to form opinions about unfamiliar brands (Naylor, Lamberton, & West, 2012). Using online communities offers the ability to help others locate products or services and to create a fairer exchange between customers and businesses (Chua & Banerjee, 2013).

Online communities provide an opportunity to define how people want the world to see them (Croft, 2013). Members of the online communities use social media as a way to deceive others (Tsikerdekis & Zeadally, 2014). Users create online identities by how

they describe themselves and the products they relate to (Croft, 2013). Social media platform providers encourage creativity by facilitating user storytelling through conversation and images (Croft, 2013).

Online communities promote social interaction that may create buzz and encourage purchases (Stephen & Galak, 2012). Consumer influence increases among people who have more in common, because they value others' opinions about brands (Naylor et al., 2012). Oestreicher-Singer and Zalmanson (2013) concluded that increased levels of participation among online communities lead to more willingness to pay for premium service, thereby increasing sales.

Overview of Social Media

Social media is not a new concept, but rather a new form of networking (Harris et al., 2012). The results of a Gallup survey stated that 72% of adults use social media sites frequently throughout the day (Gallup, 2014). Social media has a significant role in the current technology and information age (Taneja & Toombs, 2014).

The influence of social media has changed the way businesses relate to their customers (Dewan & Ramaprasad, 2014). Small businesses use social media to form one-on-one relationships with their customers and to reach new prospects (Felix, Rauschnabel, & Hinsch, 2016). Social media provides a space for others to communicate with the world (Zhu & Chen, 2015), connects businesses to customers (Taneja & Toombs, 2014), and fosters collaboration among like-minded individuals (Felix et al., 2016). Individuals can openly communicate in online social media outlets (Barnes & Jacobsen, 2013). Some consumers want to obtain knowledge about the products and

services offered (Andzulis et al., 2012). Customers use social media to offer valuable advice to others (Hajli, 2014), sharing experiences and information globally and quickly (Zhu & Chen, 2015). Social media platforms provide an opportunity for companies to interact with existing and potential customers, which, builds relationships (Goi, 2014). Business leaders use social media to engage and interact with customers in an attempt to affect sales and awareness (Taneja & Toombs, 2014).

Social Media Platforms

Technology usage has increased among small businesses as marketers embrace social media tools (Go & You, 2016). Social media platforms afford users the opportunity to stay current on the news, to voice concerns, to offer opinions, and to engage in communication with others (Go & You, 2016). As with any marketing strategy, a company assesses what the customer wants and determines how they will deliver (Zhu & Chen, 2015). Although Twitter, Facebook, and YouTube are the most used social networking sites worldwide, LinkedIn, Pinterest, and blogs are also nontraditional marketing methods used as part of the social media phenomenon.

Facebook. Facebook is the preferred social media site (Jennings, Blount, & Weatherly, 2014). As of January 2013, Facebook was the most used social media in the United States (Aichner & Perkmann, 2013). It is easier to access Facebook through smartphones and other mobile devices (Fan & Gordon, 2014), which contributes to its popularity with over 1.49 billion monthly active users as of 2015 (Niedermeier, Wang, & Zhang, 2016). Facebook users post pictures and updates about their daily lives while businesses post about products and services offered (Go & You, 2016).

Facebook communication and collaboration forms relationships among the users (Goi, 2014). Businesses use Facebook as a marketing tool because of the potential to reach and communicate to a large population (Fan & Gordon, 2014). Companies use marketing campaigns to grab the interest of their followers, which, fosters participation (Coulter & Roggeveen, 2012). Facebook provides increased opportunities to exchange information through approaches such as conducting live question and answer sessions and delivering information quickly about new developments (Agnihotri et al., 2012). Other businesses use Facebook as a way to get information to many customers and clients in a short amount of time (Goi, 2014). Organizations not engaged in Facebook miss valuable chances to communicate with customers (Lovejoy, Waters, & Saxton, 2012). Maintaining a personal Facebook page separate from a business page, is a best practice for businesses (Coulter & Roggeveen, 2012).

LinkedIn. As of 2013, LinkedIn was the largest professional networking website in the U.S. (Ferguson, 2013). LinkedIn allows business professionals to build and manage their network of business associates to promote future business relationships (Mihalcea & Savulescu, 2013). Users accomplish self-promotion by keeping current information listed on the LinkedIn site for potential career opportunities (Ward & Yates, 2013). LinkedIn allows individuals to learn more about others and helps bolster credentials (Agnihotri et al., 2012).

Blogs. Blogs help facilitate word-of-mouth (WOM) marketing and help improve business reputation (Fan & Gordon, 2014). Fan and Gordon (2014) discovered that large companies have not devoted resources to manage blogging because they lack

understanding of its potential benefits. Benefits of blogs include increasing information visibility, stimulating creativity, and providing ideas with a human perspective (Wu, Kao, & Lin, 2013). Trust via blogs correlates positively and significantly and influences knowledge sharing (Wu et al., 2013). Bloggers express opinions, educate customers, and initiate discussion related to products and services (Ngai, Tao, & Moon, 2015).

Twitter. Twitter is a social networking website used to post or tweet about the latest stories, ideas, opinions, and news on topics that interest the user and their followers (Malhotra & Malhotra, 2016). A tweet can only have 140 characters; users have to send short bursts of information at a time (Yıldırım, Üsküdarlı, & Özgür, 2016). If an organization chooses, it can bypass restrictions on the number of characters used for the presentation of detailed information with hyperlinks (Lovejoy et al., 2012). Twitter includes email, instant messaging, texting, and blogging (Azhar & Abeln, 2014). Tweets may also contain links to stories, images, and videos (Wasike, 2013). In addition, individuals and organizations may share information through retweets, build information communities, and demonstrate responsiveness with the use of public messages (Malhotra & Malhotra, 2016).

People use Twitter to (a) gauge what people say about businesses and their competitors, (b) follow news about businesses, and (c) allow professionals to learn about topics of interest (Schlinke & Crain, 2013). Businesses can use Twitter for policymaking, campaign management, and marketing (Yıldırım et al., 2016). Soo Jung and Hadley (2014) stated that news journalists receive news from monitoring the tweets of others. Although tweeting is not the main source of news information, it offers a substitute for

finding the latest information (Soo Jung & Hadley, 2014). Sports organizations and athletes use social media to communicate with fans (Witkemper et al., 2012). Brands mentioned on Twitter have on average more followers than brands that are not, suggesting that social media tools attract new followers and increase credibility (Wolny & Mueller, 2013).

Social Media Marketing

Social media has changed the digital media landscape, thus influencing the way organizations market their products (Taneja & Toombs, 2014). The effective use of social media marketing is advantageous to small business, because it increases revenue, is more cost-effective, and efficient (Castronovo & Huang, 2012). Social media marketing is a low-cost marketing option (Kohli, Suri, & Kapoor, 2015).

Bruce and Solomon (2013) stated that social media marketing is like a multilane highway giving users a chance to voice their opinions about products or services.

Traditional marketing is similar to a one-lane street, where the businesses tell the consumers what they want them to know about their products and services (Bruce & Solomon, 2013). Kwok and Yu (2013) referred to social media as a hybrid-marketing tool. Businesses used social media as a more traditional type of marketing strategy by pushing information out to the customers (Kwok & Yu, 2013). That information then becomes a conversation within their social networks, allowing customers to create usergenerated content used as WOM marketing for the business (Kwok & Yu, 2013).

Kumar and Mirchandani (2012) stated that social media marketing efforts used to increase sales, profits, brand awareness, and positive WOM must relay the *right* message

to the *right* individual. Companies view social media communication as either positive or negative (Bruce & Solomon, 2013). Businesses have the ability to monitor what consumers communicate about the company's brand (Kohli et al., 2015). Social media users want their voice heard; accordingly, social media tools make listening easier for businesses (Patino et al., 2012). By listening to consumer feedback, businesses are in a position to develop responses to change the behavior and the mindset of consumers (Kohli et al., 2015). Also, the dialog created through social media could aid in new product development (Peltola & Mäkinen, 2014). Companies have begun to realize the power of social media as a marketing tool (Hassan et al., 2015).

Challenges with Social Media

Small businesses were reluctant to engage in social media to connect with their customers (Agnihotri et al., 2012; Rapp & Panagopoulos, 2012). If companies do not take the time to understand how to use social media as a marketing tool, businesses could cause potential damage to their organizations (Li, 2012). Results from the 2012 Social Business Global Executive Survey showed that the number one barrier to impeding the adoption of social software in an organization is the lack of management understanding (Kiron, Palmer, Phillips, & Berkman, 2013). Agnihotri et al. (2012) believed that due to lack of management knowledge, companies have not adopted social media as part of their marketing strategy. Businesses can invest millions of dollars in developing an online presence and build social media outlets to conduct business, but it does not help the company if they do not understand how to use the marketing tools (Divol, Edelman, & Sarrazin, 2012).

Rapp and Panagopoulos (2012) stated that the primary obstacle to implementing social media is the lack of information technology (IT) and communication skills.

Technology-related challenges have hindered companies' ability to adopt social media as a marketing tool (Rapp & Panagopoulos, 2012). Training helps businesses to operate social media technology (Mergel & Bretschneider, 2013). A common barrier to integrating social media is the time and learning associated with the new marketing tools (Taneja & Toombs, 2014). Small businesses were reluctant to turn away from traditional marketing through newspapers and radio (Bakeman & Hanson, 2012). Due to the increasing amount of Internet users, it is crucial to understand how to incorporate social media into traditional methods of marketing to increase sales (Stephen & Galak, 2012).

Social media is a dynamic process of any business. Social media is a tool and a strategy requiring commitment and constant monitoring in all elements of an organization (Andzulis et al., 2012; Fan & Gordon, 2014). The greatest challenge for companies regarding social media marketing is to figure out how and when to use it appropriately and efficiently (Bruce & Solomon, 2013; Harris et al., 2012; Kiron et al., 2013).

Small businesses are uncertain they can reach their target markets using social media marketing techniques (Durkin, McGowan, & McKeown, 2013). Small and large businesses have successfully used social media to connect with new customers (Hassan et al., 2015). Companies are unsure how to use the new marketing technologies to maintain relationships with their clients (Durkin et al., 2013), resulting in only 26% of small businesses using social media effectively to reach potential clients and increase sales (Taneja & Toombs, 2014).

Another challenge faced by small businesses is how to incorporate the use of social media into the competitive environment in which they operate. Taneja and Toombs (2014) noted the five conditions for recognizing the opportunity to engage in peer networks. The first condition is that businesses often articulate a lack of opportunities to learn the different tools available for the use of social media. Another condition is that business managers and owners must commit to networking. The third condition is that building trust, communication and sharing among fellow business managers and owners takes time. The next condition is that negative publicity is a result of disagreement and criticism among members. The final condition is that the image of the business may alter the company's articulated benefits and experience.

Large organizations have the resources available to hire personnel to integrate social media into their communication and marketing plans (Taneja & Toombs, 2014). Kacker and Perrigot (2016) realized small businesses lack the resources and labor to implement social media strategies. Small businesses require knowledge in using social media; therefore, utilizing employees with social media experience is beneficial (Bakeman & Hanson, 2012). To address this challenge, business education curricula include social media marketing to teach college students and entrepreneurs how to interact socially (Bakeman & Hanson, 2012). Educating students and entrepreneurs may help small businesses adopt social media marketing (Bakeman & Hanson, 2012).

Businesses that engage in social media understand they have limited control over the content shared with their target market (Kohli et al., 2015). Businesses view their inability to control content as a disadvantage (Austin & Upton, 2016). Social media is

primarily user-generated content, which can sometimes be deceiving (Tsikerdekis & Zeadally, 2014). Blogs and microblogs enable people to deceive others because there are no control mechanisms in place (Tsikerdekis & Zeadally, 2014), and online reviews cannot always be trusted (Kugler, 2014). Once customers share negative information, it is nearly impossible for a business to stop the flow of information (Austin & Upton, 2016). Software is available to assist businesses in responding to the negative comments posted on social media sites (Labrecque, 2014).

Companies miss opportunities to interact with customers by not incorporating social media into their marketing strategies (Oestreicher-Singer & Zalmanson, 2013). Felix et al. (2016) posited that businesses fail to see the benefits of social media. Among the many platforms of social media, each has unique functionalities, that organizations take into consideration to maximize results (Go & You, 2016). With the vast amount of social media tools available, no one single approach exists for all businesses; social media should be flexible to suit the needs of each individual (Go & You, 2016).

Social Media and Traditional Marketing

Social media differs from traditional media in performance, immediacy, cost, quality, frequency, and reach (Katona & Sarvary, 2014). Since the onset of social media, traditional methods of communicating with customers have begun to decline (Goi, 2014; Lacoste, 2016; Yu, Duan, & Cao, 2013). Businesses have since created social media applications accessible through mobile devices to communicate, offer coupons, and to advertise company promotions (Yadav, Joshi, & Rahman, 2015). Bruhn et al. (2012) concluded that social media continues to replace traditional media. Bruhn et al stated that

consumers continue to turn away from traditional media because they feel that social media is a more trustworthy source of information.

On the contrary, Andzulis et al. (2012) stated that social media complements traditional marketing strategies to increase the value of each interaction with current or potential customers. The viral diffusion of information through social media has enhanced capacity to reach more people than traditional forms of media (Bruhn et al., 2012). Patino et al. (2012) felt that social media is not a replacement for traditional marketing, but rather a tool to complement these traditional strategies.

Social media marketing is a two-way communication (Valentini, 2015) and not a one-way communication tool such as radio or newspaper marketing methods (Nevin & Torres, 2012). Social media presents an opportunity for businesses to conduct marketing in a new way in addition to traditional methods (Roseman & Stuhura, 2013). Companies using social media as they would traditional marketing methods, limit their ability to meet the consumers' needs (Nevin & Torres, 2012). Berthon, Pitt, Plangger, and Shapiro (2012) suggested that to successfully integrate social media with traditional marketing strategies, marketing professionals must understand it. Small businesses achieve competitive advantage by integrating social media strategies with traditional marketing efforts (Taneja & Toombs, 2014). Companies must embrace social media to ensure integration with their traditional marketing efforts to leverage the purchasing decisions of customers (Eisenberg, Johnson, & Pieterson, 2015).

Word-of-Mouth

Traditional and nontraditional marketing may generate WOM communication (Castronovo & Huang, 2012). Electronic WOM influences customer feedback, comments, product reviews, and product recommendations (Castronovo & Huang, 2012), which could contribute to sales. Some purchasing decisions rely heavily on social media marketing interactions (Hutter, Hautz, Dennhardt, & Füller, 2013; Wu et al., 2013).

The dominant factor in WOM engagement is customer satisfaction, which occurs when the client wants to share a positive experience about a product or service (Wolny & Mueller, 2013). Social media allows WOM to accelerate its reach (Walaski, 2013). WOM can be an attempt for customers to improve their social interaction by making conversation about products or services (Wolny & Mueller, 2013). Social media platforms offer the ability to spread information via WOM more effectively than traditional marketing, because of the high levels of consumer engagement (Castronovo & Huang, 2012).

A WOM strategy is crucial to marketing success (Castronovo & Huang, 2012). WOM and online WOM work together to get the desired response from consumers (Barreto, 2014). Social media has the potential to amplify WOM strategies (Kumar & Mirchandani, 2012). Online WOM is powerful in promoting new products and helps in brand development (Castronovo & Huang, 2012; Wu et al., 2013). Electronic WOM can support the development of the brand image and build customer relations (Wu et al., 2013).

Electronic WOM marketing can have both negative and positive influence on businesses (Papasolomou & Melanthiou, 2012). Customer reviews on social media websites help develop a loyal customer base (Kugler, 2014). The customers view the relay of information about a product as a more reliable source of information (Kohli et al., 2015). Potential consumers are more interested in what others recommend rather than the vendor-generated information provided (Hajli, 2014).

Consumer trust is important in electronic commerce (e-commerce) because businesses can assess risk and uncertainty in online transactions (Hajli, 2014). When the level of trust increases, the perceived risk may decrease (Hajli, 2014). Reviews and recommendations create an atmosphere of trust and consumers perceive them as useful in purchasing decisions based on the impression created about a product or service (Hajli, 2014). Wolny and Mueller (2013) believed negative posts might be necessary to increase the credibility of products or services where only positive comments exist.

Social Media with Hospitality Businesses

Consumers rely on reviews posted on social media websites when making travel plans and when deciding on restaurants and hotels because they feel the information is trustworthy (Kim, Li, & Brymer, 2016; Kwok & Yu, 2013) and easy to use (Goldsmith, Pagani, & Lu, 2013). Hospitality businesses have a unique relationship with consumers in that they provide an experience rather than a tangible product like other businesses (Kwok & Yu, 2013). Hospitality companies can communicate more effectively with their market if they are aware of the information consumers seek on social media websites (Kwok & Yu, 2013).

As social media escalates in popularity, hospitality businesses have an increased opportunity to build customer relationships by marketing themselves effectively on social media sites (Roseman & Stuhura, 2013). Hospitality businesses are more involved with their consumers on social media websites creating customer loyalty (Roseman & Stuhura, 2013). A positive relationship that a brand or company has with its customer is likely to increase repeat business and referrals (Ahuvia, Bagozzi, & Batra, 2014; Kwon & Mattila, 2015; Rajeev, Ahuvia, & Bagozzi, 2012). Hospitality businesses should build a personal connection with consumers by providing a customized experience that they will in turn share with others (Kwon & Mattila, 2015). Consumers who feel a connection with the brands they love are more likely to spread positive, electronic WOM through social media (Kwon & Mattila, 2015).

DiPietro, Crews, Gustafson, and Strick (2012) found that leaders in the restaurant industry were unsure of how social media could be used to their benefit; however, restaurants use social media websites such as Facebook, MySpace, Twitter, and LinkedIn to advertise to customers and obtain feedback. Restaurants that use social media websites gain the advantage of increased customer satisfaction, increased revenues, and productive employees (DiPietro et al., 2012). Kwok and Yu (2013) stated that restaurants draw in new business and increase sales by using social media websites.

Kim et al. (2016) conducted a study to examine how customer reviews on social media websites influence restaurant performance. The researchers concluded that the restaurant performance increased as the amount of positive online customer reviews increased (Kim et al., 2016). Consumers use social media websites to exchange

information about their personal dining experiences (Bilgihan, Cheng, & Kandampully, 2014). Consumers look to social media websites such as Yelp.com and Chowhound.com to seek reviews before choosing a restaurant (Kim et al., 2016; Ong, 2012). Consumers post about their dining experiences on Facebook.com, Twitter.com, and MySpace.com (Bilgihan et al., 2014). Consumers share not only opinions, suggestions, and comments about their meal, but also pictures (Bilgihan et al., 2014).

Restaurants that engage in social media have the ability to establish credibility with their consumers by developing relationships and allowing users to exchange their dining experience with others (Bilgihan et al., 2014). This collaboration helps restaurants to identify their target market and distribute information to consumers (Bilgihan et al., 2014). Restaurants struggle with how to respond to the reviews made by consumers about their products or services. Ong (2012) suggested that more social media marketing research is needed.

Customer Relationship Management

Social media sites allow open communication about products or services offered and allow businesses to engage in conversations with their customers to strengthen their relationship (Papasolomou & Melanthiou, 2012). DiPietro et al. (2012) conducted a study surveying restaurants that use social media and found that building customer relations is the most significant benefit. Roseman and Stuhura (2013) defined customer relationship management (CRM) as a process which depicts what prospective customers want and building relationships with them by providing products and improved customer service based on their needs. Roseman and Stuhura (2013) delineated the CRM process in three

steps: (a) step 1 is to get to know the consumers, (b) step 2 is to retain customers, and (c) step 3 is to engage with the customer. Implementing all three stages improves customer service (Roseman & Stuhura, 2013).

Creating Value

It is hard to define the value gained by social media (Hutter et al., 2013).

Researchers argued that value created via social media channels might not enhance customer relationships (Durkin et al., 2013). The value-creating process involves the company and the customer (Lacoste, 2016). Customer trust and loyalty creates increased co-created value to the business (Rapp & Panagopoulos, 2012). Erragcha and Romdhane (2014) defined co-created value as the information and comments shared on the Internet by consumers for the benefit of the company. Improved customer relations (Durkin et al., 2013) can reduce risk and uncertainty.

Social media has a significant influence on customer perception of organizations (Taneja & Toombs, 2014). Value is created by the clients' perception of benefits they receive (Lacoste, 2016). Accessibility, relevance, and experience are the factors that contribute to the value of information obtained through social media (Bronner & de Hoog, 2014). Customers want to stay informed about products and services offered and render their opinions (Andzulis et al., 2012).

Social media is collaboration between customer and company to create value (Lacoste, 2016). Customers must gain a perceived value from social media efforts for the strategy to be successful (Andzulis et al., 2012). The higher the customer values the product or service, the more likely they remain loyal. Marketers must understand that to

gain a competitive advantage over other companies; one must create value to the customers (Hajli, 2014).

Marketers who build a level of trust with their consumers will grow their business faster, than those who only advertised to consumers (Bertrand, 2013). Enterprises and consumers develop loyalty and trust through social media marketing (Chang, Yu, & Lu, 2015; Yadav et al., 2015). When employing social media marketing tactics to reach potential customers, businesses must have consistent communication to earn trust (Bakeman & Hanson, 2012). Opinions and experiences of others influence consumer purchasing decisions (Bronner & de Hoog, 2014). Customers become familiar with one another fostering an environment of trust, which affects user's intention to purchase (Chang et al., 2015). The results of a Gallup survey suggested that close relationships influence consumers' purchasing decisions rather than the content found on social media websites (Gallup, 2014).

Marketing Return on Investment

Marketers find it difficult to measure return on investment (ROI) (Luke, 2013). Some marketers believe that they cannot calculate social media marketing ROI while others consider it higher than ROI of traditional marketing methods (Indrupati & Henari, 2012). Mitchell and Olsen (2013) defined MROI as the results of expenditures made on marketing contributions such as direct mail and advertising.

Whiting and Williams (2013) expected ROI to increase for businesses who use social media marketing. Public Relations Society of America reported that in 2016, over half of the 90% of the active U.S. businesses would increase sales by using social media

as part of the total marketing mix (Public Relations Tactics, 2016). Integration of new marketing channels may yield an increased return (Eisenberg et al., 2015). A basic way to measure MROI, as suggested by Luke (2013), is to track communication from the original point of contact with a consumer. The most important component to measuring MROI is customer lifetime value (CLV), which measures the overall value the customer adds to a business (Lee & Yoo, 2012).

Improved Business Practice

Social media is the new way of doing business (Durkin et al., 2013), even though, marketing objectives such as attracting and retaining customers have not changed (Wolny & Mueller, 2013). It is beneficial for marketers to refine their marketing strategy across all age groups (Schlinke & Crain, 2013). Coleman, Chandler, and Gu (2013) researched the demographics of social media users and found that educated, affluent, young white men were among the majority. Millennials, those born in the 1980s and 1990s (commonly called Generation Y), are identified as a prime target for e-commerce because it is the largest generational group; however, the Baby Boomers hold the most buying power in the digital marketplace (Smith, 2012). The millennial generation group caused marketers to rethink their marketing strategies (Smith, 2012).

Companies successfully using social media articulated the importance of having a social media plan to other companies who have yet to engage in this new marketing tool (Coleman et al., 2013). A successful social media strategy involves all departments of an organization working together on all marketing activities (Eisenberg et al., 2015). Salespeople are the customer relationship builders of the organization. It is imperative for

them to understand how social media tools can enhance their efforts (Agnihotri et al., 2012). The social media marketing tactics employed by a business influences the buyer-seller relationship (Agnihotri et al., 2012).

Salespeople can connect with customers through social media (Agnihotri et al., 2012). Connecting with customers on social media platforms facilitates a company's ability to gain detailed personal information about its customers and maintain awareness of customer interests and preferences that can help add a personal touch to foster stronger customer relationships (Fan & Gordon, 2014). Interaction on social media outlets also allows salespeople to respond quickly to customer's questions and concerns (Agnihotri et al., 2012). As with WOM, social media affords businesses the opportunity to reach new markets (Bakeman & Hanson, 2012). Companies that understand how to leverage customer connections with social media have an increased chance of obtaining and retaining customers (Harris et al., 2012).

Businesses use social analytic techniques to understand and analyze data obtained from social media platforms (Fan & Gordon, 2014). Information obtained through social media channels positively influences purchasing decisions (Stephen & Galak, 2012). Chang et al. (2015) indicated that the customer's emotional experience also influences their purchasing decisions.

Conceptual Framework

Many theories relate to social media marketing strategies either directly or tangentially. The conceptual framework for this study is the diffusion of innovation theory (Rogers, 2003). Diffusion of innovation theory explains the initial adoption of a

certain innovation or media outlet and assists researchers in exploring why users chose a certain media by exploring their adoption rate. Researchers have used the diffusion of innovation theory across various disciplines to identify a technology users' rate of adoption (Rogers, 2003). The diffusion of innovation theory provides the best framework to focus on the strategies of small restaurant businesses. The business relationships formed on social media websites create the connection for diffusion of information.

Small restaurant businesses use marketing strategies on social media websites to disseminate their marketing message (Kwok & Yu, 2013).

Diffusion occurs in stages since the process develops over time (Mergel & Bretschneider, 2013). Much like Rogers's (2003) five stages in the diffusion of innovation theory, Mergel and Bretschneider (2013) identified three stages of the diffusion process. The researchers examined social media as it relates to the three stages of diffusion. The first stage is the intrapreneurship and experimentation phase. In this stage, individuals diffuse technology, such as social media, into an organization by integrating it into their standard business practices. Phase 2 is the order from chaos phase. In this phase, the organization accepts the new technology and establishes standards and rules based on the variance of use by the individuals within the organization. Institutionalization is the third phase. During the institutionalization phase, the organization utilizes their rules and standards to implement a standardized protocol for the use of the new technology (Mergel & Bretschneider, 2013).

Business decisions typically rely on a single person in the position of manager or owner for small businesses (Thong, 1999). Small businesses lack the technical

knowledge and resources to adopt new innovative technologies, such as social media (Thong, 1999). Business innovation exists when there is a need for new product development or a solution to a current business problem (Thong, 1999). Thong (1999) conducted an empirical study, using questionnaires, to obtain data from small businesses in Singapore on information system (IS) adoption. Thong compared small businesses in Singapore with those of the United States and found that since they have the same characteristics and limitations his research applies to most small businesses. Thong (1999) stated that many models and theories might be applicable to large organizations but not always small businesses because of their limited resources and work force.

Researchers have used the diffusion of innovation theory to investigate factors that influence social media and the impact social media has on financial performance of small businesses (Ainin, Parveen, Moghavvemi, Jaafar, & Mohd Shuib, 2015). Harris et al. (2013) used the diffusion of innovation theory to examine patterns and characteristics associated with social media adoption in state health departments across the United States. Mergel (2013) found that two main factors influenced the adoption of social media usage in the U.S. federal government: (a) the passive attention network among social media practitioners, and (b) to a much lesser extent (initially lacking) formal guidance from the top management. Researchers also used the diffusion of innovation theory to explain the adoption of Facebook in the 2012 campaigns for the U.S. Congress and to identify characteristics that differentiate the small subset of candidates who did not create a Facebook presence from the large majority who did (Gulati & Williams, 2013).

Social network theory combined with the diffusion of innovation theory was the framework for a mixed method research study to determine how social media experts could support the implementation of social media programs in Belgium libraries (Vanwynsberghe, Boudry, Vanderlinde, & Verdegem, 2014). Ainin et al. (2015) used the diffusion of innovation theory to explore the influential factors and the performance impact of Facebook usage on organizations. Unlike previous studies, these researchers found that trust was not an influential factor in Facebook usage. In addition, they found that Facebook had a positive impact, both financial and non-financial, on organizational performance. Using the compatibility attribute of the diffusion of innovation theory, the researchers showed that organizations adopt new technology if it benefits business. Likewise, Nah and Saxton (2012) used the diffusion of innovation theory to understand the adoption of Facebook usage by nonprofit organizations. Organizations employ various strategies to fulfill the organization's mission. The organization's mission determines the acceptance of the innovation, such as social media (Nah & Saxton, 2012). Furthermore, organizational strategies, capacities, governance features, and external pressures (Nah & Saxton, 2012) regulate social media adoption rate.

Hayes (2012) suggested that the user's mental mode affects their usage of technology. The term mental mode is the user's comprehension of how a system works (Hayes, 2012). The attitude toward technology relates to the ease of use. The better a user can understand the benefits of a system, the more apt they are to using it. Hayes (2012) conducted an empirical study using two case scenarios, both with a conceptual model of the decision aid technology. The participants received training on the conceptual model

and were required to use it in the first case, while the second case the participants were not required to use the conceptual model. The researchers used questionnaires to gather demographic and ease of use information. Participants self-reported their intent to use the technology. Hayes (2012) found that the conceptual model enhances the mental mode thus making ease of use greater. Hayes also found that users are more likely to accept a technology that they perceive as easy to use. The conceptual model aided in the perception of the ease of use because the users felt more knowledgeable of the technology, thus increasing the adoption of a technology (Hayes, 2012).

In the theory of planned behavior (TPB) framework intentions lead to behavior toward information technolgy (Ajzen, 1991; Muk, Chung, & Kim, 2014). Personal beliefs and worldly knowledge often impact individual behavior (Muk et al., 2014). Individuals' attitudes, social influences, and volitional control stimulate their behavior (Ajzen, 1991). The positive or negative response of performing the action is an attitude (Fielding, Terry, Masser, & Hogg, 2008). Social influences are subjective norms derived from the perception of the behavior by ones' peers (Muk et al., 2014). Social norms are expectations about human behavior. Instead of influence by others, relevant group member expectations influence most behavior (Fielding et al., 2008). Internal and external forces influence individual behavior (Ajzen, 1991). Thus, consumers base their desires to purchase products on their psychological needs to feel connected to others (Laroche, Habibi, & Richard, 2012). Muk et al. (2014) conducted a study using the TPB to examine the effect of social media on consumer behavior. Muk et al. (2014) found that

TPB helps to explain the consumer's behavior but does not give insight as to the business owner's strategy in obtaining and retaining customers using social media marketing.

Another theory that relates to social media is the social identity theory (SIT) which suggests an individual's identity comes from their surroundings (Barker, 2012; Tajfel & Turner, 1986). Individuals have multiple identities developed by their association with various social groups (Barker, 2012). A group includes collaboration with people who share similar social or emotional views (Tajfel & Turner, 1986). People evaluate their friends (in-group) positively while developing social norms (Baker, 2012). Unknown associates (outgroup) is categorized negatively (Baker, 2012). Abrams and Giles (2007) stated that the in-group determines an individual's perception of media content (Barker, 2012). As with the TPB, SIT includes exploration of the consumer's perspective on their associations with business brands, rather than focusing on the business strategies that attracted them to the company.

Some researchers integrated SIT with TPB to explore all elements that come together during business sales transactions (Terry & Hogg, 1996). Terry and Hogg (1996) have provided evidence from their research that the behavioral aspect of the social norms in TPB and SIT are related. In TPB, the evaluation of choices is deliberate and informed by identity or group related variables (Nenci, Carrus, Caddeo, & Meloni, 2008). TPB includes connections to SIT because the behavior was a result of the social identity impacted by the in-group norms (Nenci et al., 2008). The integration of SIT and TPB helps explain online consumer purchasing decisions when influenced by relationships formed on social media websites.

Fred Davis and Richard Bigozzi developed the technology acceptance model (TAM) in 1989 (Lin, 2013). TAM is a commonly used theory relating to the acceptance and usage of technology (Pinho & Soares, 2011). TAM was inspired by the theory of reasoned action (TRA) developed by Ajzen and Fishbein in 1975 (Lin, 2013). Usefulness and ease of use are two constructs of the TAM model that are appropriate in a study relating to social media marketing studies. TAM relates to the other models and theories by ease of use. Rauniar et al. (2014) conducted a study regarding social media with a focus on Facebook using the TAM. The authors developed a revised social media TAM model to include perceived usefulness (PU) and intention to use (IU), which resulted in the revised model. The researchers revised the TAM model specifically for Facebook to conduct their study. The revised model was consistent with prior results of hypothesis that relate to the original TAM model. The results of their study were that the TAM model constructs were consistent with the original TAM model with social media and Facebook. Their study was limited to a small number of U.S. based university business students. Further research should include other participants and other social media sites such as Google, LinkedIn, and Twitter.

Riemenschneider, Harrison, and Mykytyn (2003) used TPB and TAM to understand IT adoption among small businesses. Riemenschneider et al. (2003) collected data from U.S. small business executives. The combination of the TAM and TPB allowed the researchers to examine the adoption of small business websites. The researchers found that the combination of TAM and TPB was most appropriate for understanding the ease of usage and the behavior to adopt IT in small businesses. Lederer, Maupin, Sena,

and Zhuang (2000) used the constructs of TAM to explore the ease of use and usefulness of the world-wide-web (WWW) by including 163 participants who use the Internet for their job. Lederer et al. (2000) collected data by an email survey. The researchers validated TAM in terms of ease of use and usefulness of the WWW.

As with other researchers, Carlos Martins Rodrigues Pinho and Soares (2011) used the TAM to gain a better understanding of new technology adoption. The quantitative study was limited to 150 university students. The researchers applied a survey method of data collection. The results of the study were consistent with the TAM in the adoption of social networks. Lin (2013) conducted a study different from other researchers who used the TAM constructs. Lin explored the relationship between TAM and usability testing. Researchers frequently develop tests to determine how well technology users understand a specific technology (Lin, 2013). Lin performed the usability test on an eCampus learning system with a personal digital assistant (PDA) mobile device. Lin did not find a relationship between the TAM's perceived usefulness and usability.

Researchers commonly employ the uses and gratification theory (U&G) theory to understand media usage. Researchers use the U&G theory to explain why people chose a certain media to fulfill their gratification needs and why they continue to use that media (Malik, Dhir, & Nieminen, 2016). In the U&G theory, media users choose their level of participation and decide whether to engage in certain media based on their socio-psychological needs (Krause, North, & Heritage, 2014). Media users select a media based

on their needs and continue to use that media as long as their needs are satisfied (Ku, Chen, & Zhang, 2013).

The U&G theory is an adoption theory researchers use to explore Internet usage (Luo & Remus, 2014). Researchers use the U&G theory to explore consumer context and behavior. A number of studies have used U&G theory to evaluate Facebook activities such as photo sharing (Malik et al., 2016), listening to music (Krause et al., 2014), sharing information (Lee & Ma, 2012), and sharing music videos (Karnik, Oakley, Venkatanathan, Spiliotopoulos, & Nisi, 2013). The U&G theory often helps researchers explain the motivations for media usage, whereas diffusion of innovation theory and the TAM explains IT adoption. For example, Krause et al. (2014) used the U&G theory to understand the uses and gratifications of Facebook music listening application users. The researchers found that communication, entertainment, and habitual diversion were the key motivations for usage of Facebook music listening applications (Krause et al., 2014).

When businesses develop social media sites, they should take into consideration the demographics of their target base to ensure it is user friendly. Social media usage increases as users discover the multitude of features available to connect with others and share information (Rauniar et al., 2014). The results of this study explained how small business restaurant owners accept social media at various levels of engagement by using the diffusion of innovation theory.

Transition

The goals of Section 1 were to explore relevant, current, and available works on social media strategies used for marketing. The literature review provided a social context for online communities, social media marketing, WOM, customer relationship management, creating value, MROI, improved business practice, and conceptual framework. Section 2 includes a discussion of the qualitative method of research used to determine which social media marketing strategies small restaurant business managers and owners use to support social media. In section 3, I provided the data results from interviews, study conclusions, application to professional practice, implications for social change, and personal recommendations.

Section 2: The Project

Section 2 includes the sampling method, sample size, and eligibility criteria for the participants. In addition, data collection techniques, data organization techniques, and data analysis were key elements of this research study. This section expands on Section 1 and provides an in-depth review. In Section 3, I present the findings of the study.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multicase study was to examine strategies that small restaurant business owners use to support social media marketing. The target population was five small restaurant business owners in WNC, who successfully used social media marketing for 1 year or more. The results of this study might contribute to positive social change by assisting small restaurant businesses in gaining and retaining customers, growing their business, and increasing employment. Increased employment could improve the standard of living in local communities.

Role of the Researcher

My role as the researcher in this qualitative multicase study was to gather data without bias. I have a personal Facebook and Twitter account, but I have no direct experience with using social media as a marketing tool. I do not have any personal or professional relationship with the participants of the study, which helped to minimize associated bias.

Researchers use their strengths to obtain perspectives and viewpoints to discover and explain the thought process and experiences of the participants (Graebner, Martin, & Roundy, 2012). The researcher assumes the role of the data collection instrument, in a

qualitative study in order to provide a more comprehensive understanding of the participants' perspectives and experiences (Leedy & Ormrod, 2013). Parker (2014) suggested that proper planning and preparation include careful selection of the participants, data collection, data organization, and data analysis helps to understand the participants. Marshall and Rossman (2016) suggested that researchers use an interview protocol with each participant to ensure reliability and validity. I used an interview protocol. I followed all ethical standards by adhering to the protocols outlined in the Belmont Report (1979), which provides the ethical guidelines for the protection of human participants.

Participants

Researchers use purposeful sampling to identify participants who have successfully addressed the business problem. Purposeful sampling is the selection of participants who meet set criteria to provide data that reflect that particular population (Robinson, 2014). For this study, the participants met the following criteria: (a) at least 1 year experience in creating and implementing marketing strategies using social media, and (b) small restaurant business owners in WNC.

I sourced participants for this study from restaurants in WNC on social media websites and a list provided by the local Chamber of Commerce. Food service companies are among the top three industries with the smallest business employment in North Carolina (SBA, 2015). After identifying that the participants met above criteria, I sent each participant a letter by email to ask for their interest in participating in this study. I followed up the email with a personal visit to the restaurants to speak with the owners to

introduce my study and myself. The personal visit to the restaurants offered me the opportunity to establish a working relationship with the owners. Establishing a working relationship with each participant by being honest about the intended purpose and outcome of the study helps to obtain their trust (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). As participants showed interest in participating in this study, they received a detailed written description of study expectations. Dworkin (2012) suggested a small sample size for qualitative research. This study included five small restaurant business owners to interview.

Accommodation and food service small businesses represent over 58% of total employees in North Carolina (SBA, 2016).

Research Method and Design

Research Method

In this research study, I followed a qualitative approach to explore successful marketing strategies used by small restaurant business owners. The qualitative research method is useful in obtaining knowledge on peoples' perspectives, thought processes, and experiences (Adams, Broom, & Jennaway, 2012). Parker (2014) stated that a qualitative methodology suits the need of research if certain considerations exist. These considerations were: the study was exploratory, the use of hypothesis was not appropriate because of the complexity of the business problem, the themes from the study assisted in data interpretation, that a large sample was not appropriate, and the researcher controls the analysis of the meaning of the data (Parker, 2014). Researchers use qualitative methodology to source data through interviews, observation, and documentation (DeMassis & Kotlar, 2014). A qualitative research method was appropriate for this study

because the research question included exploration of social media strategies that small restaurant business owners used to support social media marketing.

In contrast, in quantitative data collection, researchers remain consistent with their research questions and hypotheses throughout the study to provide accurate information (Diefenbach, 2009). Researchers use quantitative research to test theories by examining the relationships and differences between variables (Frels & Onweughuzie, 2013). In quantitative studies, the results provide numerical data used to measure the relationship between factors and variables (Parker, 2014). Quantitative research was an effective approach to exploring human experiences in the context of the social media phenomena. In this study, employing quantitative research methods would not have provided the data necessary to understand the strategies small restaurant business owners used to support social media marketing.

In mixed method research, the investigator combines qualitative and quantitative approaches (Harrison, 2012). The mixed method approach is useful in determining not only the cause of the phenomenon but also the underlying facts of the cause using both quantitative and qualitative data (Maxwell, 2013). Data obtained from a mixed method approach combines both quantitative data and qualitative data into one dataset for analysis (Leedy & Ormrod, 2013). In this research study, a mixed method approach was not suitable because I collected and analyzed only qualitative data from interviews and documents.

Research Design

The multicase study research design was the most appropriate design for this study. The goals of case study research include in-depth exploration of the program, event, or activity that involves one or more individuals (Yin, 2014). Researchers who conduct multicase study research gather data from multiple cases to get a more in-depth understanding of a phenomenon and to increase credibility (DeMassis & Kotlar, 2014). Boblin et al. (2013) used case study research to explore processes and the outcomes of activities. In this study, I explored the strategies of small restaurant business owners in using social media marketing. Case study research was most appropriate.

I used the multicase study research design for this study. Researchers use case study research design to explore in depth programs, events, or activities that involve one or more individuals (Yin, 2014). Case study research was most appropriate for this study to uncover meaning and understanding of social media marketing phenomena when little information exists. Researchers use the ethnography design to focus on understanding an entire cultural group (Sangasubana, 2011), which was not appropriate for this study because the participants were specifically small restaurant business owners. Researchers use grounded theory to uncover repeated themes or concepts from data to develop a theory (Hays & Wood, 2011). The purpose was not to develop a theory in this research study. Grounded theory design was not appropriate. Researchers use phenomenology to study the lived experiences of participants (Moustakas, 1994). I explored the marketing strategies of the participants rather than their lived experiences. The narrative research design helps researchers tell a life story (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000). Narrative research

was not suitable because I did not explore the life stories of participants. Researchers often use semistructured interviews to saturate the data (Robinson, 2014). I conducted semistructured interviews, document analysis, and a review of social media pages with member checking until I saturated the data. The data is saturated when there is no new information found in all of the data (Cleary et al., 2014; Rao, 2012).

Population and Sampling

The population of this study included five small restaurant business owners in WNC who had at least 1 year of experience using social media for marketing. I searched for small restaurant businesses in WNC on social media websites and obtained information from the local Chamber of Commerce for a list of participants for this study. I emailed the first 10 participants a letter to ask for participation in my study. No one responded to the email so I personally visited the restaurants to speak with the owners. Five participants agreed to participate in this study. Purposeful sampling is highly effective in supplying abundant, in-depth information concerning experiences of business owners (Robinson, 2014). The participants' knowledge and experience determine the value of the data (Cleary, Horsfall, & Hayter, 2014); therefore, I used a purposeful sampling technique for this study. Frels and Onwuegbuzie (2013) encouraged purposeful sampling with a small sample size to collect information rather than a larger population.

In qualitative research, the number of participants can be sufficient to reach data saturation (Dworkin, 2012). For this study I began the data collection process by interviewing five participants and after completion of these five interviews, I reviewed to determine saturation in the interview data. The data is saturated when there is no new

information found in all of the data (Cleary et al., 2014; Rao, 2012). I continued interviewing until the interview data was saturated. All interviews and member checking took place over the phone. The interview setting was in a quiet home office with a closed door to ensure confidentiality. The participants' setting was in their natural environment to provide comfort during the interview.

Ethical Research

I followed all ethical practices and regulations to conduct research within this study. Research began after receiving Institutional Review Board (IRB) authorization. Walden University's IRB approval number for this study is 09-26-16-0242483. Researchers use a written consent form to indicate that participation is voluntary (Cane, McCarthy, & Halawi, 2010). The participants received a written consent to interview form and confidentiality agreement via email. The participants responded to the email stating that they consent. I informed the participants that the interviews were confidential.

To ensure confidentiality, no information such as business names or participants' names appear in published or written documents that could identify the participants of this study. I assigned each participant a number instead of using names to organize and store the data, as suggested by Brady (2011). I addressed any questions or concerns from the participants as part of the consent process. Yin (2014) suggested that researchers should allow participants to withdraw from a study at any time. I informed participants that they could withdraw from the study at any time by contacting me via phone or email.

This study had no potential risk to the participants because the research involved collecting data in the participants' natural setting. Notes, transcripts, and interview

recordings are stored on a personal hard drive in a locked home office cabinet. All data is securely stored for 5 years and I will destroy it by shredding printed documents and electronically erasing digital information thereafter to protect the confidentiality of the participants. Koocher (2014) suggested that participants should not receive incentives to complete an interview. The participants did not receive incentives to complete the interview, nor had any obligations after the study. I informed participants that they could withdraw from the study at any time.

Data Collection Instruments

Interviews are the most common form of data collection in qualitative research (DeMassis & Kotlar, 2014). The researcher is the primary instrument for collecting data (Parker, 2014). I used semistructured interviews with open-ended questions as the primary data source for this study (see Appendix A), over the phone with small restaurant business owners in WNC. Before conducting the interview, participants received an emailed informed consent form to review and sign. With the permission of the participants, I used an audio recording device to record the interviews and later transcribe the interviews using *Echo Smartpen* by Livescribe. An interview protocol ensures reliability and validity (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). I asked all participants the same interview questions systematically by using an interview protocol (See Appendix B). Detailed field notes and audio recordings include spontaneous questions and answers. I requested documents from the participants relating to social media marketing strategies. I also collected public information from social media websites and business websites.

Member checking is a participant validation technique used to ensure the researcher has accurately interpreted the participants' answers to the interview questions (Heale & Forbes, 2013). Researchers conduct member checking to give the participants a chance to review the researcher's depiction of their answers to the interview questions (Yin, 2014). Participants received emailed copies of the interview summaries. I then contacted participants by phone to review the interview summary and to give them the opportunity to comment. All participants agreed that I had captured their interview responses correctly. Marshall and Rossman (2011) suggested member checking to enhance reliability and validity.

Data Collection Technique

In qualitative research, interviews include ideas and insights better than other research methods (DeMassis & Kotlar, 2014). In this study, I used interviews to collect data about the participant's social media marketing strategies. Researchers conduct interviews via telephone, Internet, or face-to-face (Petty, Thomson, & Stew, 2012). Sturges and Hanrahan (2004) conducted research to compare telephone and face-to-face interviews, which resulted in no significant differences in collecting data by phone than face-to-face. I personally conducted phone interviews for this study. Consistent, openended questions allow flexibility for follow-up questions to encourage the flow of the interview conversation (Knight, 2012). I did not conduct a pilot study.

During the interviews, I used the Echo Smartpen by Livescribe to take field notes.

The Echo Smartpen by Livescribe software enabled me to record and to transcribe handwritten notes. Audio recordings and interview notes serve as verification of the

transcribed interviews. Accuracy and completeness establish credibility (Harper & Cole, 2012). Member checking is the participant's review of the researcher's interpretation of the answers to the interview questions (Yin, 2014). To complete member checking, I emailed participants a one to two-page summary of the interview and contacted them by phone to review my interpretations of their interview responses. The participants' responses and comments verify that the researcher depicted their feelings and experiences accurately (Harper & Cole, 2012). Researchers use member checking to confirm that the responses of each participant in the study were clearly understood and represented (Marshall & Rossman, 2016).

Data Organization Technique

I collected data by interviewing five owners of small restaurant businesses. To remain consistent, researchers organize and categorize all data collected after each interview (Petty et al., 2012). Data are organized into groups to manage the multiple forms of data collected (Yin, 2014). I used an electronic file system and a hard copy file system for each participant to maintain and organize documents, interview transcriptions, and field notes. Using numerical labels rather than names protects the identity of the participants (Brady, 2011). I assigned a number to each participant. A personal external hard drive in a locked home office file cabinet will house audio recordings, notes, and transcriptions as individual files. I will securely store all data for 5 years and destroy it by shredding printed documents and electronically erasing digital information thereafter.

Data Analysis

In case study research, it is important to understand the data collected (Yin, 2014). The researcher analyzes the collected data to interpret the meaning of the participants' responses (Petty et al., 2012). DeMassis and Kotlar (2014) suggested reviewing and labeling each document. I carefully reviewed and labeled each document before analyzing the data.

Coding is the process of defining and sorting information applicable to the study. The purpose of coding is to connect data for interpretation (DeMassis & Kotlar, 2014). Interview notes and transcripts were hand coded, by color-coding, to find commonalities. I first identified key terms and word similarities and placed them into categories. Then I looked for phrase similarities. Finally, I focused on identifying key themes that relate to the literature. DeMassis and Kotlar (2014) described the analysis phase as the categorization of themes that emerge resulting from examination of the data. The use of the methodological triangulation approach improves data analysis (Bekhet & Zauszniewski, 2012) and ensures data saturation (Fusch & Ness, 2015). I used Yin's 5-step analysis approach and methodological triangulation that consisted of semistructured interviews, a review of the business social media pages, and an analysis of collected documents. The conceptual framework links the literature with the methodology and results of the study (Borrego, Foster, & Froyd, 2014).

Reliability and Validity

Reliability

Qualitative reliability occurs when consistency exists among various researchers in different research studies (Onwugbuzie & Byers, 2014). Documenting each step in the research study is imperative for reliability (Kikooma, 2010). Using a systematic approach to collecting data, organizing data, and data analysis to ensure dependability minimizes errors and bias (Trotter, 2012). I collected data through in-depth interviews with openended questions with small restaurant business owners. The interview questions in this study allowed the participants to respond to their experience in using social media for marketing. Researchers use an interview protocol to help strengthen reliability (Trotter, 2012). I used an interview protocol for each interview.

Validity

Qualitative research involves detailed and in-depth knowledge of the research topic (Onwugbuzie & Byers, 2014). I conducted an on-going investigation of the topic by the continued research of peer-reviewed journal articles, marketing websites, and periodical publications. To ensure credibility in this study, I was the sole researcher who conducted all interviews as suggested by Brod, Tesler, and Christensen (2009). I recorded each interview to ensure accuracy. Audio recordings help to eliminate any errors in transcription (Kikooma, 2010). Robinson (2014) suggested conducting additional interviews, if required, to reach data saturation of the interview data. I did not need to conduct any further interviews to do so because no new data was uncovered. Data saturation is one measure of the validity of the study.

Researchers use transferability to indicate whether the qualitative research results apply to other settings (Houghton, Casey, Shaw, & Murphy, 2013). I enhanced transferability by providing detailed descriptions of the process used to conduct the study. Ultimately, the reader decides transferability (Marshall & Rossman, 2016).

Confirmability refers to the exactness of the data (Houghton et al., 2013). Member checking enhanced the accuracy of the data. I used member checking to validate my interpretation of the interview responses. I incorporated follow up and probing questions to clarify topics.

Transition and Summary

The purpose of this qualitative multicase study was to explore successful social media marketing strategies implemented by small restaurant business owners or managers. The data collection and analysis procedures allowed for exploration of effective social media marketing strategies used by small restaurant business owners. In section 3, I include discussions of the results of the study, implications for social change, and recommendations for actions and further research.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative multicase study was to explore what strategies small business owners use to market their restaurant business via social media. Data came from semistructured interviews, document collection, and a review of social media pages and websites for the participating restaurants. As cited by the participants, Instagram, Yelp, and Facebook were the most widely used social media platforms. I conducted a review of the pages on those platforms for each of the respective restaurants and reviewed their standalone websites as part of the document review process. The findings of the study revealed three themes regarding social media marketing strategies: (a) social media platforms, (b) word-of-mouth, and (c) challenges implementing social media.

Presentation of the Findings

In this section, I present the research findings of this study. The primary research question was: What strategies do small restaurant business owners use to support social media marketing? Data collection included semistructured interviews, document collection pertaining to social media marketing, and a review of social media pages and websites for the participating restaurants. I analyzed the collected data to explore the strategies that small business restaurant owners use to support social media marketing. The data analysis resulted in the development of themes that aligned with the study's conceptual framework and literature review. I also discussed findings that did not align with the literature review.

Participant Demographics

The five participants in this study were each owners of small restaurant businesses in WNC. I gathered participant demographic data and company background information from the restaurant websites and social media pages. Participants were both male and female, between the ages of 36 and 53. All five participants owned restaurants in WNC and had less than 20 employees. Each participant had recently been actively engaged in social media and had over 1 year of experience in developing and implementing social media marketing strategies. On average, the participants posted twice a week on social media pages engaging with their customers.

Semistructured Interviews

One source of the data collection for this study was semistructured, over-the-phone interviews with the participants. The interviews included nine open-ended questions, which helped me ask probing questions to explore the participants' use of social media marketing. I interviewed the participants between September 30, 2016 and October 5, 2016.

Using the interview protocol, I completed individual interviews with the owners of five small business restaurants. I used an Echo Smart Pen to capture the interview dialogue, which enabled transcription of the data. Following each interview, I completed member checking by writing a one to two-page interview summary and emailed the interview summary to the participants for review. I followed up with a phone call to ensure that I accurately interpreted their responses to the interview questions. All five participants agreed that I correctly interpreted their responses to the interview questions.

None of the participants shared additional information during the member checking process. After transcribing the interviews using Microsoft Word, I printed and hand coded the transcripts by way of color-coding to promote organization and thematic analysis of the data.

Social Media Page and Document Review

A review of each participant's social media pages and documents regarding social media marketing served as supplementary data sources for this study. During the individual interviews, I received information from the participants about their social media platforms and websites and requested documentation of their social media marketing strategies. Using Microsoft Word, I reviewed each company's social media web pages and recorded information pertaining to usage. I reviewed each company's pages to obtain demographic information and to ensure each restaurant met the criteria for inclusion of my study. These data provided detailed information to understand the participants' social media usage and to allow comparison of the participants' usage patterns.

I collected documents that pertained to the businesses' social media marketing efforts. Participant 2 provided a business-marketing plan that revealed the restaurant's social media marketing strategy was to incorporate social media on all marketing materials to solicit engagement. The restaurant owner stated in the marketing plan that social media site logos, such as Facebook and Instagram, are placed on business websites, signage throughout the restaurant, and menus to invite customers to share, like, and follow their business on the websites. Participant 2 also emailed a sample customer

receipt to serve as evidence of how their business included these logos on marketing material as an invitation to connect with the restaurant on social media sites. Participants 1, 3, 4, and 5 did not have a written business marketing strategy plan. The participants posited that a written marketing plan was not necessary. In addition, participants 1, 3, 4, and 5 were not able to produce printed marketing materials because they no longer use them as a form of marketing. The participants believed that MROI was not achievable, thereby; the restaurant owners eliminated the cost by not utilizing printed forms of marketing.

Based on the data collected from interview question responses, participant social media web pages, and document review, three major themes emerged. The first theme identified the social media websites that the participants used, the second theme accentuated the importance of WOM, and the third theme involved the challenges businesses face when implementing social media marketing. All three of the themes correspond with the strategies used by the participants to support social media marketing. The following subsections provide descriptions of the three major themes.

Emergent Theme One: Social Media Platforms

The first theme that emerged from the data concerned the social media platforms that each participant used. Social media platforms afford users the opportunity to stay current on the news, to voice concerns, to offer opinions, and to engage in communication with others (Go & You, 2016). Kwok and Yu (2013) stated that restaurants draw in new business and increase sales by using social media websites.

Using specific social media platforms can aid in increased communication by developing

a relationship between the company and the consumer, creating trust and credibility (Shen, Chiou, Hsiao, Wang, & Li, 2016). Otherwise, the marketing efforts could decrease in effectiveness by not engaging with the consumer (Shen et al., 2016).

Facebook, Yelp, and Instagram were the most employed social media platforms among the participants of this study. Participant responses supported the assertions of Kohli et al. (2015), who stated that social media marketing provides a low-cost marketing option. Two participants reported that they only use Facebook to market to their customers because it is cost-effective and efficient to reach their customer base. The remaining three participants found that while Facebook was the most efficient social media platform, engaging in additional social media platforms helped to reach more customers.

Facebook is the most preferred social media site (Jennings et al., 2014).

Businesses use Facebook as a marketing tool because of the potential to reach and communicate to a large population (Fan & Gordon, 2014). As of July 2016, there were 1.71 billion people on Facebook (DMR, 2016). All five participants had business Facebook pages, three participants employed Yelp for customer reviews, and two participants used Instagram to post pictures.

Table 1 shows the various social media sites in which the participants had an online presence. Menupix, Zomato, Menuism, and Foursquare are social media sites that generate restaurant ratings based on customer input. It does not appear that the participants were actively engaged on the respective sites.

Table 1

Review of Participants' Social Media Presence

	P1	P2	Р3	P4	P5	
Facebook	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	
Instagram	Y	N	Y	Y	N	
Yelp	Y	Y	N	Y	N	
Menupix	Y	Y	N	Y	Y	
Zomato	Y	Y	N	N	Y	
Menuism	N	Y	N	Y	N	
Foursquare	N	N	N	Y	N	

Note. Y = Yes; N = No.

The influence of social media has changed the way businesses relate to their customers (Dewan & Ramaprasad, 2014). It is easier to market to customers with social media (P1, P5). Business websites can link to social media websites to allow customers to place online orders for pick up or delivery (P3, P4, & P5). Participant 5 stated that 54% of food purchases were in some way linked to the restaurant's social media page. A review of the businesses' social media sites revealed that the participants used social media to post pictures and videos, promote community events, advertise daily specials, and post the restaurant's menu (See Table 2).

Table 2

Review of Participants' Facebook Posts

	P1	P2	P3	P4	P5
Photos	Menu Items Customers Community Events Employment Opportunities Holiday Events	Daily Specials Menu Items	Menu Items	Customers	Menu Items Specials Board Customers
Menu Videos	Yes Salad & Buffet Tables	Yes Bdays Employee Engagement w/Customers	No	Yes Bdays & Holidays	Yes
Events	Themed Kids' Night Cruise-in				
Recent Posts	Daily Specials Promotions Gift Certificates Holiday and Seasonal Events Kids' Night	Daily Specials	Daily Specials	Voted Best Restaurant Certificate Karaoke Menu Items Kids' Night	Hours of Operation Menu Specials

Note. Data current as of October 2016

Competition influences business owners to engage in social media (Taneja & Toombs, 2014). The participants' responses to the interview questions affirmed that the primary reason for engaging in social media marketing was that it is the new way of reaching customers in this digital age. Many restaurants in the surrounding area communicate with customers on social media (P1). Other restaurants have been successful with using social media (P2). Social media is how people communicate these days (P3).

Using social media as a marketing strategy confirms Rogers's findings on diffusion of information. The participants further assessed that social media amplifies electronic WOM, which is consistent with the findings of Kumar and Mirchandani's (2012) research. Social influence affects the rate of social media adoption (Rogers, 2003). Rogers (2003) referred to this as relative advantage in his diffusion of innovations theory. Businesses are motivated to adopt an innovation when there is a foreseeable advantage (Rogers, 2003). Consistent with the diffusion of innovation theory, small business restaurant owners adopted the innovation of social media to communicate with the customers in their social system. The participants of this study acknowledged that social media connects their business to customers and the community increasing brand awareness and sales.

Emergent Theme Two: Word-of-Mouth

All five participants emphasized the power of electronic WOM marketing. An electronic WOM strategy is crucial to marketing success (Castronovo & Huang, 2012). Participant 1 stated, "WOM is how I get all my business." Participant 2 agreed that most of their business also comes from electronic WOM when customers share posts and communicate with one another. Three of the five participants added that they encourage customers to post pictures of the food on social media sites and comment about their experience in the restaurant to help spread the word about the service they received (P2, P4, & P5). In addition to posting pictures and sharing experiences, Participants 4 and 5 offer incentives to share, like, and comment on a post for discounts and coupons on future purchases. Shen et al. (2016) suggested that interactive advertising could increase

the potential for positive consumer reaction. The dominant factor in WOM engagement is customer satisfaction, which occurs when the client wants to share a positive experience about a product or service (Wolny & Mueller, 2013). All five participants confirmed that customers are enthusiastic to share their experience on social media sites, especially when it is a positive one.

Social media allows WOM to accelerate its reach (Walaski, 2013). Participant 4 mentioned that friends also help encourage the spread of information on social media sites. Potential consumers are more interested in what others recommend rather than the vendor-generated information provided (Hajli, 2014). People respond to comments made by customers, but do not typically respond to posts originated by the restaurant (P3). Tracking user activity identifies who communicates and which posts users view on your social media page (P2). Facebook's business page manager mobile phone application offers a weekly report of Facebook user activity (P2). The followers and likes on a social media page is another indication of who the active users are on your page (P3). Table 3 lists the participating restaurants' Facebook user activity.

Table 3

Facebook User Activity

	P1	P2	Р3	P4	P5
People Talking About This	27	7	16	94	38
People Checked In	515	1668	13	13048	9
Likes	750	464	724	1823	191
Page Followers	739	454	717	1760	191

Note. Data current as of October 2016

Customers spread WOM by posting feedback and sharing the business's social media pages with their friends and followers. The customers create dialogue about the

service and the quality of the food (P1, P2, P3, & 5). Customer reviews increase brand awareness (P5). "When people see that your restaurant ranks five stars, it encourages them to want to visit" (P5). Tables 4 and 5 illustrate the number of customer reviews and the customer ratings of the participating restaurants on Facebook and Yelp.

Table 4

Facebook Customer Reviews and Ratings

	P1	P2	P3	P4	P5
# of Reviews	96	51	21	469	12
Star Rating	4.8	4.7	4.9	4.4	5

Note. Data current as of October 2016

Table 5

Yelp Customer Reviews and Ratings

	P1	P2	Р3	P4	P5
# of Reviews	13	2		21	
Star Rating	4.5	4.5		4	

Note. Data current as of October 2016

Emergent Theme Three: Challenges Implementing Social Media

The final theme that emerged from the data involved the challenges businesses face when implementing social media marketing. Results from the 2012 Social Business Global Executive Survey showed that the number one barrier impeding the adoption of social software in an organization is the lack of management understanding (Kiron et al., 2013). The greatest challenge for companies regarding social media marketing is to figure out how and when to use it appropriately and efficiently (Bruce & Solomon, 2013; Harris et al., 2012; Kiron et al., 2013). DiPietro et al. (2012) found that leaders in the restaurant industry were unsure of how to use social media to their benefit. The findings

from the participants of this study are not consistent with the above-mentioned research concerning the challenges of implementing social media for marketing. Although Participant 1 and Participant 4 indicated that they had a lack in knowledge concerning social media usage, their efforts have been successful. Participant 1 further acknowledged that they were not using social media to its full potential, "Being a small business, I am able to generate more than enough business with just posting the daily specials and communicating with customers." Participant 2 stated, "My friends and family had to show me how to develop a Facebook page because I did not know where to start, but Facebook is a user friendly site." Participant 5 admitted that he learned social media by trial and error. Participant 4 commented that when having a business social media site, you are able to track the activity of your friends and followers. "If it weren't for the synopsis of user activity that social media sites provide, I would not know how successful my marketing is." Participants 2 and 4 periodically review reports on social media mobile phone applications, generated by social media sites to track user activity.

By listening to consumer feedback, businesses are in a position to develop responses to change the behavior and the mindset of consumers (Kohli et al., 2015). Participant 5 stated that he was able to respond quickly to negative posts by constantly monitoring posts made on the social media websites. Researchers Austin and Upton (2016) believed that once customers share negative information, it is nearly impossible for a business to stop the flow of information. Participant 5 argued that, "Negative reviews are like a doubled edge sword and can potentially damage the reputation of your business. Customers can help diffuse the negative comments by posting positive

comments to the original negative post." Businesses can purchase software to help track negative comments posted on social media sites and assist them in responding (Labrecque, 2014). The participants in this study did not purchase such software, as they did not feel they needed it.

The participants' responses were consistent with a study conducted by Mariani, Di Felice, and Mura (2016) on Facebook usage in Italy. The researchers found that the majority of Facebook posts by businesses were made during the work week (Monday to Friday), even though users interact more on the weekends and most posts were during the evening or at night (Mariani et al., 2016). "It is time consuming to post on social media throughout the day" (P2). "I spend part of my day, during down times, responding to posts and participating in conversations from the day before" (P3). "It seems that I have more hits on my site when I'm not at work" (P4).

When asked about the challenges faced in implementing social media marketing strategies, Participant 3 asserted that her biggest challenge was maneuvering Facebook's system. Participant 3 stated:

Facebook has too much control over the content that businesses can put on their pages. Facebook monitors all activity and you have to pay attention to how many times you post a certain phrase or word. It limits reach to potential customers. I am constantly trying to find a work around to how their system operates. It is a struggle to keep up with the constant changes with Facebook. Facebook has a problem when you use a word too many times and gives you a warning that your site will be shut down if you continue.

As with any marketing strategy, a company assesses the customer wants and determines how they will deliver (Zhu & Chen, 2015). Shen et al. (2016) suggested that businesses chose the correct social media for their competency level to maximize results. DiPietro et al. (2012) conducted a study surveying restaurants that use social media and found that building customer relations is the most significant benefit. Participants of this study confirmed that they build relationships within their communities using social media. Participant 1 noted that networking with other local businesses helps to obtain potential customers. To collaborate with local businesses, Participant 1 hosts events such as cruise-ins and holiday celebrations at the restaurant, while Participant 4 hosts karaoke nights for community groups and organizations (See Table 2).

Connecting Findings to Conceptual Framework

The findings of this study exemplify Rogers's diffusion of innovation theory. Diffusion of innovation occurs when members of the social system adopt the innovation, such as a new idea or practice, over time (Rogers, 2003). The four major components involved in the diffusion of innovations process are (a) innovation, (b) communication channels, (c) time, and (d) social system (Rogers, 2003). In this multicase study, the innovation or new idea was social media marketing. Social media provides businesses the opportunity to network with others (Harris et al., 2012). The participants used this new way of networking to market to current and potential customers through various communication channels such as Facebook and Instagram. Participants developed social media web pages to increase awareness and promote sales. Once a social media presence was established, the participants posted information about products and services,

promotions, and menu specials. Over time, each participant attracted more followers by collaboration with customers on their social media pages, which increased brand awareness. One participant explained that they implemented social media marketing first by developing a Facebook page and later incorporated Yelp and Instagram (P4). Participant 4 further noted that this decision was due to the responses received from customers. WOM was a driving force for increased business. As the restaurants acquired popularity, their brand circulated through people who connect (social system) on social media sites, which is the final component of Rogers's diffusion of innovation theory.

Applications to Professional Practice

The results of this study provided social media marketing strategies employed by owners of small business restaurants. This study's findings may help owners of small business restaurants understand the most effective social media marketing strategies, the significance of WOM, and the challenges faced when implementing social media marketing strategies. The effective use of social media marketing is advantageous to small business, because it increases revenue, and is more cost-effective (Castronovo & Huang, 2012). The specific business problem was that some small restaurant business owners lack social media marketing strategies. The results of this study may provide small business restaurant owners a solution to engage in social media marketing effectively.

Many small business restaurant owners may not understand the importance of developing social media marketing strategies. In the current technology and information age, social media has a significant role (Taneja & Toombs, 2014). Todor (2016)

suggested that the most efficient marketing strategy is the combination of both traditional and digital marketing. Participants in this study indicated that they rely heavily on digital marketing rather than traditional marketing methods. In an effort to combine traditional and digital marketing, one participant integrated social media with printed menus, messages on customer receipts, and signage throughout the restaurants asking customers to like or follow their social media pages. None of the participants used the common forms of traditional media such as newspapers, brochures, and billboards for marketing.

With this study, I confirmed that implementing social media marketing strategies successfully does not require formal training or understanding of all the components on the various social media platforms. As such, small business restaurant owners should choose at least one social media platform to begin developing a social media presence. I have noticed that with the growing rate of social media, many local venues and companies offer seminars, webinars, online tutorials, and training guides for business practitioners. The participants in this study did not participate in any form of training to learn how to implement social media marketing. If business owners do not take the time to understand how to use social media as a marketing tool, businesses could cause potential damage to their organizations by missed opportunities for growth and sales (Li, 2012). I believe that recruiting employees who are social media savvy may relieve business owners from the learning curve associated with social media and may increase employment rate in the community.

Businesses that engage in social media understand they have limited control over the content that customers share with their target market (Kohli et al., 2015). One participant indicated that a negative comment on the restaurant's social media site created an online dialog between customers and resulted with a positive outcome (P5). The customers replied to the negative post by sharing their positive experience, thus, making the original negative comment appear not credible. Being active on social media can allow business owners to facilitate positive conversation, identify customer concerns, and obtain information for new menu items, and recommendations for better services.

Creating a plan to combat negative comments and posts on social media sites could benefit small business restaurant owners.

Implications for Social Change

The findings from this study reveal that social media marketing has a significant positive impact on restaurant performance. Small businesses engage in social media marketing to promote visibility and awareness of their brand within the local community (Taneja & Toombs, 2014). Small restaurant businesses use marketing strategies on social media websites to disseminate their marketing message (Kwok & Yu, 2013). The results of this study may contribute to positive social change by increasing community relations by allowing them to communicate on businesses' social media pages. Encouraging the community to interact with peers and the wider environment increases visibility, viability, and sustainability for small businesses (Taneja & Toombs, 2014). The sustainability of small businesses could increase employment and the standard of living for local residents. In turn, these businesses might help contribute to the economy of their community, drive economic development, and improve community relations.

Recommendations for Action

The purpose of this study was to determine the strategies that small restaurant business owners use to support social media marketing. Based on the findings of this study, there are three recommendations for small restaurant business owners to consider. The first recommendation is that small business restaurants should determine which social media strategies align with the goals of the restaurant and take the time to create a presence on social media platforms. I recommend taking advantage of available social media training opportunities to increase success in implementing social media marketing tools. Participants of this study received no training or education in using social media. The participants further stated that Facebook was a user-friendly social media site. Implementation takes little to no experience.

The second recommendation is to encourage customer feedback. Social media is helpful in engaging in communication with current and potential customers. Customers increase WOM by posting comments and reviews, following or liking a page, and sharing social media pages with their network. To facilitate this, I recommend providing incentives such as coupons or discounts on future purchases, as suggested by the participants.

The third recommendation is to formulate a plan to overcome obstacles and challenges that may arise with implementing social media marketing strategies. It is important to understand policies and procedures for approved content that businesses can post on their social media pages. In addition, constant communication with active users on social media platforms decreases the potential of negative content. The findings of this

study can be useful information to create training programs on the use of social media marketing for small business restaurants. This information could be disseminated to small restaurant business owners through journals and conferences.

Recommendations for Further Research

The findings of this study provide a foundation for further research in the areas of social media marketing. In this qualitative multicase study, there were two main limitations: research participants may not fully engage during the interview process and the potential lack of information and available documents. The participants in this study were eager to share their social media marketing strategies. Since the participants did not use search engine optimization such as pay per click advertisements or Google analytics, documentation was limited. Researchers could expand this study to include face-to-face interviews and on-site visits to small business restaurants to observe the customer's experience. This study included small restaurant businesses in WNC. Recommendations for further research are to expand research to other geographic locations. Further research utilizing a quantitative method to examine in-depth financial performance analysis of the relationship between marketing techniques and profitability rates may provide additional information on effective marketing strategies.

Reflections

The Walden University Doctor of Business Administration (DBA) program has been a challenging yet rewarding experience. I began the program with a preconceived notion that I was at a disadvantage in completing a doctoral study since I was not required to conduct research while obtaining my Master degree. The courses included in

this program provided a solid foundation in conducting research and has encouraged me to develop this skill further once completing the program.

I chose to research social media marketing strategies based on my past marketing experience. I spent a few years as a virtual real estate agent where I was in charge of managing a high producing real estate team. My main objective was to make sure that all agents on the team were successful and that everyone had a constant stream of clients. Marketing became my specialty. It had been a while since then and marketing has evolved with the growth of social media so I chose to focus my study on learning about this new way of marketing.

The participants of this qualitative multicase study provided knowledge and understanding of social media marketing strategies. I was surprised at their openness and willingness to share their marketing strategies with me. Having only a personal Facebook page, I was unaware of the benefits and challenges of using social media marketing for business. I gained valuable information on implementing social media marketing and awareness of the obstacles and challenges associated. Prior to conducting interviews, I had no relationship with the participants, which helped to avoid bias. One challenge that I faced during this study was collecting documents pertaining to social media marketing strategies. The participants could not provide written documentation, such as financial reports or social media website analytics, because they did not track such information. I found that documentation was limited.

Conclusion

The purpose of this qualitative multicase study was to determine the strategies that small restaurant business owners use to support social media marketing. Five small restaurant businesses in WNC participated in interviews to explore this subject. Study findings revealed three themes: (a) social media platforms, (b) WOM, and (c) challenges when implementing social media. Social media has increased in popularity when compared to traditional methods of marketing. Some participants of this study have eliminated printed marketing material and implemented social media as their sole source of marketing. Participant responses confirmed the importance in using social media marketing strategies to generate sales. The findings, conclusions, and recommendations could help small restaurant businesses understand how to incorporate social media into their marketing mix. Facebook was the most used social media marketing platform by the participants of this study. The findings of this study affirm that constant contact and communication with current and prospective customers fosters relationship building and expands WOM. WOM has the potential to increase sales and brand awareness. I concluded from the findings that social media is a powerful marketing tool for small business restaurants when used and properly implemented.

References

- Adams, J., Broom, A., & Jennaway, M. (2012). Qualitative methods in research: One framework for future inquiry. *Journal of Manipulative and Physiological Therapeutics*, 18, 55-60. doi:10.1016/j.jmpt.2008.06.006
- Agnihotri, R., Kothandaraman, P., Kashyap, R., & Singh, R. (2012). Bringing "social" into sales:

 The impact of salespeople's social media use on service behaviors and value creation. *Journal of Personal Selling and Sales Management*, 32, 333-348. doi:10.2753/pss0885-3134320304
- Ahuvia, A. C, Bagozzi, R. P., & Batra, R. (2014). Psychometric vs. C-OAR-SE measures of brand love: A reply to Rossiter. *Marketing Letters*, 25, 235-243. doi:10.1007/s11002-013-9251-4
- Aichner, T., & Perkmann, U. (2013). Social media: Opportunities and risks for regional market research. *International Journal of Market Research*, 55, 609-610. doi:10.2501/IJMR-2013-055
- Ainin, S., Parveen, F., Moghavvemi, S., Jaafar, N. I., & Mohd Shuib, N. L. (2015). Factors influencing the use of social media by SMEs and its performance outcomes. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 115, 570-588. doi:10.1108/IMDS-07-2014-0205
- Andzulis, J., Panagopoulos, N. G., & Rapp, A. (2012). A review of social media and implications for the sales process. *Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management*, 32, 305-316. doi:10.2753/PSS0885-3134320302
- Austin, R. D., & Upton, D. (2016). Leading in the age of super-transparency. *MIT Sloan Management Review*, 57(2), 25-32. Retrieved from http://mitsmr.com/1NIHPNy

- Azhar, S., & Abeln, J. M. (2014). Investigating social media applications for the construction industry. *Procedia Engineering*, 85, 42-51. doi:10.1016/j.proeng.2014.10.527
- Bakeman, M., & Hanson, L. (2012). Bringing social media to small business: A role for employees and students in technology diffusion. *Business Education Innovation Journal*, 4, 106-111. Retrieved from http://busedinnovation.com
- Bekhet, A., & Zauszniewski, J. (2012). Methodological triangulation: An approach to understanding data. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(2), 40-43. doi:10.7748/nr2012.11.20.2.40.c9442
- Belmont Report. (1979). *The Belmont Report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the*protection of human subjects of research. Retrieved from

 http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/belmont.html
- Barker, V. (2012). A generational comparison of social networking site use: The influence of age and social identity. *The International Journal of Aging and Human Development*, 74, 163-187. doi:10.2190/AG.74.2.d
- Barnes, N. G., & Jacobsen, S. (2013). Adoption of social media by fast-growing companies:

 Innovation among the Inc. 500. *Journal of Marketing Development and Competitiveness*,
 7, 11-17. Retrieved from http://www.na-businesspress.com
- Barreto, A. M. (2014). The word-of-mouth phenomenon in the social media era. *International Journal of Market Research*, 56, 631-654. doi:10.2501/IJMR-2014-043
- Berthon, P. R., Pitt, L. F., Plangger, K., & Shapiro, D. (2012). Marketing meets Web 2.0, social media, and creative consumers: Implications for international marketing strategy.

 Business Horizons, 55, 261-271. doi:10.1016/j.bushor.2012.01.007

- Bertrand, G. (2013). Social media research: Developing a trust metric in the social age.

 *International Journal of Market Research, 55, 333-335. doi:10.2501/IJMR-2013-032
- Bilgihan, A., Cheng, P., & Kandampully, J. (2014). Generation Y's dining information seeking and sharing behavior on social networking sites. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 26, 349-366. doi:10.1108/IJCHM-11-2012-0220
- Boblin, S. L., Ireland, S., Kirkpatrick, H., & Robertson, K. (2013). Using Stake's qualitative case study approach to explore implementation evidence-based practice. *Qualitative Health Research*, 23, 1267-1275. doi:10.1177/1049732313502128
- Borrego, M., Foster, M. J., & Froyd, J. E. (2014). Systematic literature reviews in engineering education and other developing interdisciplinary fields. *Journal of Engineering Education*, 103, 45-76. doi:10.1002/jee.20038
- Brady, K. (2011). Freelance technical writers: Does temporary work promote ethical issues?

 Journal of Information, Communication, & Ethics in Society, 9, 34-48.

 doi:10.1108/14779961111123214
- Branthwaite, A., & Patterson, S. (2011). The power of qualitative research in the era of social media. *Qualitative Market Research*, 14, 430-440. doi:10.1108/13522751111163245
- Brod, M., Tesler, L. E., & Christensen, T. L. (2009). Qualitative research and content validity:

 Developing best practices based on science and experience. *Quality of Life Research*, 18, 1263-1278. doi:10.1007/s11136-009-9540-9
- Bronner, F., & de Hoog, R. (2014). Social media and consumer choice. *International Journal of Market Research*, 56, 51-71. doi:10.2501/IJMR-2013-053
- Bruce, M., & Solomon, M. R. (2013). Managing for media anarchy: A corporate marketing

- perspective. *Journal of Marketing Theory and Practice*, *21*, 307-318. doi:10.2753/MTP1069-6679210305
- Bruhn, M., Schoenmueller, V., & Schäfer, D. B. (2012). Are social media replacing traditional media in terms of brand equity creation? *Management Research Review*, *35*, 770-790. doi:10.1108/01409171211255948
- Cane, S., McCarthy, R., & Halawi, L. (2010). Ready for battle? A phenomenological study of military simulation systems. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, *50*, 33-40.

 Retrieved from http://www.iacis.org/jcis/jcis.php
- Carlos Martins Rodrigues Pinho, J., & Soares, A. M. (2011). Examining the technology acceptance model in the adoption of social networks. *Journal of Research in Interactive Marketing*, 5(2/3), 116-129. doi:10.1108/17505931111187767
- Castronovo, C., & Huang, L. (2012). Social media in an alternative marketing communication model. *Journal of Marketing Development and Competitiveness*, 6, 117-131. Retrieved from http://www.na-businesspress.com
- Chang, Y. T., Yu, H., & Lu, H. P. (2015). Persuasive messages, popularity cohesion, and message diffusion in social media marketing. *Journal of Business Research*, 68, 777-782. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2014.11.027
- Chua, A. Y., & Banerjee, S. (2013). Customer knowledge management via social media: The case of Starbucks. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 17, 237-249. doi:10.1108/13673271311315196
- Clandinin, D. J., & Connelly, F. M. (2000). *Narrative inquiry: Experience and story in qualitative research*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

- Cleary, M., Horsfall, J., & Hayter, M. (2014). Data collection and sampling in qualitative research: Does size matter? *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 70, 473-475. doi:10.1111/jim.12163
- Coleman, L. J., Chandler, K., & Gu, J. (2013). Social media: A moving target. *Journal of Marketing Development and Competitiveness*, 7, 73-77. Retrieved from http://www.nabusinesspress.com/JMDC/jmdcscholar.html
- Coulter, K. S., & Roggeveen, A. (2012). "Like it or not": Consumer responses to word-of-mouth communication in on-line social networks. *Management Research Review*, *35*, 878-899. doi:10.1108/01409171211256587
- Croft, R. (2013). Blessed are the geeks: An ethnographic study of consumer networks in social media, 2006–2012. *Journal of Marketing Management*, 29, 545-561. doi:10.1080/0267257X.2013.787113
- DeMassis, A., & Kotlar, J. (2014). The case study method in family business research:

 Guidelines for qualitative scholarship. *Journal of Family Business Strategy*, 5, 15-29. doi:10.1016.j.jfbs.2014.01.007
- Dewan, S., & Ramaprasad, J. (2014). Social media, traditional media, and music sales. *MIS Quarterly*, 38, 101-121. Retrieved from http://www.mcgill.ca
- Digital Marketing (DMR) (2016). Amazing Facebook statistics. Retrieved from http://expandedramblings.com/index.php/by-the-numbers-17-amazing-facebook-stats/
- DiPietro, R. B., Crews, T. B., Gustafson, C., & Strick, S. (2012). The use of social networking sites in the restaurant industry: Best practices. *Journal of Foodservice Business Research*, 15, 265-284. doi:10.1080/15378020.2012.706193

- Divol, R., Edelman, D., & Sarrazin, H. (2012, April). Demystifying social media. *McKinsey Quarterly*. Retrieved from http://www.1bpt.bridgeport.edu
- Durkin, M., McGowan, P., & McKeown, N. (2013). Exploring social media adoption in small to medium-sized enterprises in Ireland. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise*Development, 20, 716-734. doi:10.1108/JSBED-08-2012-0094
- Dworkin, S. L. (2012). Editorial: Sample size policy for qualitative studies using in-depth interviews. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 41(6) 1-2. doi:10:1007/s 10508-012-0016-6
- Eid, R., & El-Gohary, H. (2013). The impact of E-marketing use on small business enterprises' marketing success. *The Service Industries Journal*, *33*(1), 31-50. doi:10.1080/02642069.2011.594878
- Eisenberg, E. M., Johnson, Z., & Pieterson, W. (2015). Leveraging social networks for strategic success. *International Journal of Business Communication*, *52*, 143-154. doi:10.1177/2329488414560283
- Erragcha, N. O. Z. H. A., & Romdhane, R. (2014). Social networks as marketing tools. *Journal of Internet Banking and Commerce*, 19, 1-12. Retrieved from http://www.icommercecentral.com/
- Fan, W., & Gordon, M. D. (2014). The power of social media analytics. *Communications of the ACM*, *57*, 74-81. doi:10.1145/2602574
- Felix, R., Rauschnabel, P.A., & Hinsch, C. (2016). Elements of strategic social media marketing:

 A holistic framework. *Journal of Business Research*, 1-8.

 doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.05.001
- Ferguson, R. B. (2013). The relevance of data: Going behind the scenes at LinkedIn authors. MIT

- Sloan Management Review, 55, 1-3. Retrieved from http://sloanreview.mit.edu
- Fielding, K. S., Terry, D. J., Masser, B. M., & Hogg, M. A. (2008). Integrating social identity theory and the theory of planned behaviour to explain decisions to engage in sustainable agricultural practices. *British Journal of Social Psychology*, 47, 23-48. doi:10.1348/014466607X206792
- Fiore, A., Niehm, L. S., Hurst, J. L., Jihyeong, S., & Sadachar, A. (2013). Entrepreneurial marketing: Scale validation with small, independently-owned businesses. *Journal of Marketing Development & Competitiveness*, 7, 63-86. Retrieved from http://t.www.nabusinesspress.com
- Fishbein, M. & Ajzen, I. (1975). *Belief, attitude, intention, and behavior*. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley.
- Frels, R. K., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2013). Administering quantitative instruments with qualitative interviews: A mixed research approach. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 91, 184-194. doi:10.1002/j.1556-6676.2013.00085.x
- Fusch, P., & Ness, L. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 1408-1416. Retrieved from http://tqr.nova.edu/wp-content/uploads/2015/09/fusch1
- Gallup. (2014). *The myth of social media*. Retrieved from http://online.wsj.com/public/resources/documents/sac report 11 socialmedia 061114.pdf
- Geho, P. R., & Dangelo, J. (2012). The evolution of social media as a marketing tool for entrepreneurs. *Entrepreneurial Executive*, 17, 61-68. Retrieved from

- http://www.alliedacademies.org
- Go, E., & You, K. H. (2016). But not all social media are the same: Analyzing organizations' social media usage patterns. *Telematics and Informatics*, *33*, 176-186. doi:10.1016/j.tele.2015.06.016
- Goi, C. L. (2014). The impacts of social media on the local commercial banks in Malaysia.

 *Journal of Internet Banking and Commerce, 19(1), 1-10. Retrieved from http://www.arraydev.com
- Goldsmith, R. E., Pagani, M., & Lu, X. (2013). Social network activity and contributing to an online review site. *Journal of Research in Interactive Marketing*, 7, 100-118. doi:10.1108/JRIM-Jul-2012-0029
- Graebner, M. E., Martin, J. A., & Roundy, P. T. (2012). Qualitative data: Cooking without a recipe. *Strategic Organization*, *10*, 276-284. doi:10.1177/147612700124455281
- Gulati, G. J., & Williams, C. B. (2013). Social media and campaign 2012 developments and trends for Facebook adoption. *Social Science Computer Review*, *31*, 577-588. doi:10.1177/0894439313489258
- Hajli, M. N. (2014). A study of the impact of social media on consumers. *International Journal of Market Research*, 56, 388-404. doi:10.2501/UMR-2014-025
- Harper, M., & Cole, P. (2012). Member checking: Can benefits be gained similar to group therapy? *The Qualitative Report*, 17, 510-517. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/index.html

- Harris, J. K., Snider, D., & Mueller, N. (2013). Social media adoption in health departments nationwide: The state of the states. *Frontiers in Public Health Services and Systems**Research*, 2(1), 5. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2012.301166
- Harris, L., Rae, A., & Misner, I. (2012). Punching above their weight: The changing role of networking in SMEs. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 19, 335-351. doi:10.1108/14626001211223937
- Harrison, R. L. (2012). Using mixed methods designs in the journal of business research, 1990–2010. *Journal of Business Research*, 66, 2153-2162. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2012.01.006
- Hassan, S., Nadzim, S. Z. A., & Shiratuddin, N. (2015). Strategic use of social media for small business based on the Aida model. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 172, 262-269. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.01.363
- Hayes, T. P. (2012). Predicting information technology adoption in small businesses: An extension of the Technology Acceptance Model. *Journal of Management Information and Decision Sciences*, 15(1), 37. Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org/aimsj_public.php
- Hays, D. G., & Wood, C. (2011). Infusing qualitative tradition in counseling research designs. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 89(3), 288-295.doi:10.1002/28ISSN291556-6676
- Heale, R., & Forbes, D. (2013). Understanding triangulation in research. *Evidence Based Nursing*, 16, 98. doi:10.1136/eb-2013-101494
- Houghton, C., Casey, D., Shaw, D., & Murphy, K. (2013). Rigour in qualitative case-study research. *Nurse Researcher*, 20, 12-17. doi:10.7748/nr2013.03.20.4.12.e326

- Hutter, K., Hautz, J., Dennhardt, S., & Füller, J. (2013). The impact of user interactions in social media on brand awareness and purchase intention: The case of MINI on Facebook. *Journal of Product & Brand Management*, 22, 342-351. doi:10.1108/JPBM-05-2013-0299
- Indrupati, J., & Henari, T. (2012). Entrepreneurial success, using online social networking:

 Evaluation. *Education, Business, and Society: Contemporary Middle Eastern Issues*, 5,

 47-62. doi:10.1108/17537981211225853
- Jennings, S. E., Blount, J. R., & Weatherly, M. G. (2014). Social media: A virtual Pandora's box prevalence, possible legal liabilities, and policies. *Business and Professional Communication Quarterly*, 77, 96-113. doi:10.1177/2329490613517132
- Kacker, M., & Perrigot, R. (2016). Retailer use of a professional social media network: Insights from franchising. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, *30*, 222-233. doi:10.1016/j.jretconser.2016.01.020
- Karnik, M., Oakley, I., Venkatanathan, J., Spiliotopoulos, T., & Nisi, V. (2013). Uses & gratifications of a Facebook media sharing group. In Proceedings of the 2013 conference on computer supported cooperative work (pp. 821–826). New York, NY: ACM. doi:10.1145/2441776.2441868
- Katona, Z., & Sarvary, M. (2014). Maersk line: B2B social media-" It's communication, not marketing". *California Management Review*, *56*, 142-156. Retrieved from http://aabri.com
- Kikooma, J. F. (2010). Using qualitative data analysis software in a social constructionist study of entrepreneurship. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 10, 40-51. doi:10.3316/QRJ10001040

- Kim, W. G., Li, J. J., & Brymer, R. A. (2016). The impact of social media reviews on restaurant performance: The moderating role of excellence certificate. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 55, 41-51. doi:10.1016/j.ijhm.2016.03.001
- Kiron, D., Palmer, D., Phillips, A. N., & Berkman, R. (2013). The executive's role in social business. *MIT Sloan Management Review*, *54*, 83-89. Retrieved from http://sloanreview.mit.edu
- Kohli, C., Suri, R., & Kapoor, A. (2015). Will social media kill branding? *Business Horizons*, 58, 35-44. doi:10.1016/j.bushor.2014.08.004
- Komodromos, M. (2014). A study of PR practitioners' use of social media tools in Cyprus.

 **Journal of Developmental Entrepreneurship, 19(2), 1450011.

 doi:10.1142/S1084946714500113
- Koocher, G. P. (2014). Research ethics and private harms. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 29, 3267-3276. doi:10.1177/088626051434986
- Knight, J. (2012). Deletion, distortion and data collection: The application of the neurolinguistics programming (NLP) meta-model in qualitative interviews. *Australasian Journal of Market & Social Research*, 20(1), 15-21. Retrieved from http://www.amsrs.com.au/publicationsresources
- Krause, A. E., North, A. C., & Heritage, B. (2014). The uses and gratifications of using Facebook music listening applications. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *39*, 71-77. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2014.07.001
- Ku, Y. C., Chen, R., & Zhang, H. (2013). Why do users continue using social networking sites?

 An exploratory study of members in the United States and Taiwan. *Information* &

- Management, 50, 571-581. doi:10.1016/j.im.2013.07.011
- Kugler, L. (2014). Keeping online reviews honest. *Communications of the ACM*, *57*, 20-23. doi:10.1145/2667111
- Kumar, V., & Mirchandani, R. (2012). Increasing the ROI of social media marketing. *MIT Sloan Management Review*, 54, 55-61. Retrieved from http://sloanreview.mit.edu
- Kwon, E., & Mattila, A. S. (2015). The effect of self-brand connection and self-construal on brand lovers' word of mouth (WOM). *Cornell Hospitality Quarterly*, *56*, 427-435. doi:10.1177/1938965514566071
- Kwok, L., & Yu, B. (2013). Spreading social media messages on Facebook: An analysis of restaurant business-to-consumer communications. *Cornell Hospitality Quarterly*, 54, 84-94. doi:10.1177/1938965512458360
- Labrecque, L. I. (2014). Fostering consumer—brand relationships in social media environments: The role of parasocial interaction. *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 28, 134-148. doi:10.1016/j.intmar.2013.12.003
- Lacoste, S. (2016). Perspectives on social media and its use by key account managers. *Industrial Marketing Management*, *54*, 33-43. doi:10.1016/j.indmarman.2015.12.010
- Laroche, M., Habibi, M. R., & Richard, M. O. (2012). To be or not be in social media: How brand loyalty is affected by social media? *International Journal of Information Management*, 33, 76-82. doi:10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2112.07.03
- Lederer, A. L., Maupin, D. J., Sena, M. P., & Zhuang, Y. (2000). The technology acceptance model and the World Wide Web. *Decision support systems*, 29, 269-282. Retrieved from http://www.journals.elsevier.com/decision-support-systems/

- Lee, C. S., & Ma, L. (2012). News sharing in social media: The effect of gratifications and prior experience. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 28, 331-339. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2011.10.002
- Lee, S., & Yoo, S. (2012). Return on marketing investment: Pizza Hut Korea's case. *Management Decision*, *50*, 1661-1685. doi:10.1108/00251741211266741
- Leedy, P. D., & Ormrod, J. E. (2013). *Practical research: Planning and design* (10th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.
- Li, X. (2012). Weaving social media into a business proposal project. *Business Communication Quarterly*, 75, 68-75. doi:10.1177/1080569911432629
- Lin, C. C. (2013). Exploring the relationship between technology acceptance model and usability test. *Information Technology and Management*, *14*, 243-255. doi:10.1007/s10799-013-0162-0
- Lovejoy, K., Waters, R. D., & Saxton, G. D. (2012). Engaging stakeholders through Twitter:

 How nonprofit organizations are getting more out of 140 characters or less. *Public Relations Review*, *38*, 313-318. doi:10.1016/j.pubrev.2012.01.005
- Luo, M. M., & Remus, W. (2014). Uses and gratifications and acceptance of Web-based information services: An integrated model. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *38*, 281-295. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2014.05.042
- Malhotra, C. K., & Malhotra, A. (2016). How CEOs can leverage Twitter. *MIT Sloan Management Review*, 57(2), 73. Retrieved from http://mitsmr.com/1QiMXWJ
- Malik, A., Dhir, A., & Nieminen, M. (2016). Uses and gratifications of digital photo sharing on Facebook. *Telematics and Informatics*, 33, 129-138. doi:10.1016/j.tele.2015.06.009
- Mariani, M. M., Di Felice, M., & Mura, M. (2016). Facebook as a destination marketing tool:

- Evidence from Italian regional Destination Management Organizations. *Tourism Management*, *54*, 321-343. doi:10.1016/j.tourman.2015.12.008
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. (2016). *Designing qualitative research* (6th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Maxwell, J. A. (2013). *Qualitative research design: An interactive approach.* Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Mergel, I. (2013). Social media adoption and resulting tactics in the US federal government. *Government Information Quarterly*, 30(2), 123-130. doi:10.1016/j.giq.2012.12.004
- Mergel, I., & Bretschneider, S. I. (2013). A three-stage adoption process for social media use in government. *Public Administration Review*, 73, 390-400. doi:10.1111/puar.12021
- Mihalcea, A., & Savulescu, R. (2013). Social networking sites: Guidelines for creating new business opportunities through Facebook, Twitter, and Linkedin. *Management Dynamics in the Knowledge Economy, 1*, 39-53. Retrieved from http://www.managementdynamics.ro
- Morgan, N. A., Katsikeas, C. S., & Vorhies, D. W. (2012). Export marketing strategy implementation, export marketing capabilities, and export venture performance. *Academy of Marketing Science Journal*, 40, 271-289. doi:10.1007/s11747-011-0275-0
- Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Muk, A., Chung, C., & Kim, J. (2014). A cross-national study of the influence of individualism and collectivism on liking brand pages. *Journal of International Consumer Marketing*, 26, 122-137. doi:10.1080/08961530.2014.878204

- Nah, S., & Saxton, G. D. (2012). Modeling the adoption and use of social media by nonprofit organizations. *New Media & Society*, 1-23. doi:10.1177/1461444812452411
- Naylor, R. W., Lamberton, C. P., & West, P. M. (2012). Beyond the "like" button: The impact of mere virtual presence on brand evaluations and purchase intentions in social media settings. *Journal of Marketing*, 76, 105-120. doi:10.1509/jm.11.0105
- Nenci, A. M., Carrus, G., Caddeo, P., & Meloni, A. (2008). Group processes in food choices:

 The role of ethnic identity and perceived ethnic norms upon intentions to purchase ethnical food products. *Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology*, 18, 505-511. doi:10.1002/casp.959
- Nevin, F., & Torres, A. M. (2012). Club 2.0: Investigating the social media marketing strategies of nightclubs in the Midlands and West of Ireland. *Irish Journal of Management*, 32(1), 77. Retrieved from http://iamireland.ie/journal
- Ngai, E. W., Tao, S. S., & Moon, K. K. (2015). Social media research: Theories, constructs, and conceptual frameworks. *International Journal of Information Management*, *35*(1), 33-44. doi:10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2014.09.004
- Niedermeier, K. E., Wang, E., & Zhang, X. (2016). The use of social media among business-to-business sales professionals in China: How social media helps create and solidify guanxi relationships between sales professionals and customers. *Journal of Research in Interactive Marketing*, 10(1) 33-49. doi:10.1108/JRIM-08-2015-0054
- Oestreicher-Singer, G., & Zalmanson, L. (2013). Content or community? A digital business strategy for content providers in the social age. *MIS Quarterly*, *37*, 591-616. doi:10.2139/ssrn.1536768

- Ong, B. S. (2012). The perceived influence of user reviews in the hospitality industry. *Journal of Hospitality Marketing & Management*, 21, 463-485. doi:10.1080/19368623.2012.626743
- Onwugbuzie, A. J., & Byers, V. T. (2014). An exemplar for combining the collection, analysis, and interpretations of verbal and nonverbal data in qualitative research.

 International Journal of Education, 6, 183-246. doi:10.5296/ije.v6il.4399
- O'Reilly, T. (2012). Terry O'Reilly blog. Retrieved from http://www.terryoreilly.ca
- Papasolomou, I., & Melanthiou, Y. (2012). Social media: Marketing public relation's new best friend. *Journal of Promotion Management*, 18, 319-328. doi:10.1080/10496491.2012.696458
- Park, H., & Cho, H. (2012). Social network online communities: Information sources for apparel shopping. *Journal of Consumer Marketing*, 29, 400-411. doi:10.1108/07363761211259214
- Parker, L. (2014). Qualitative perspectives: Through a methodological lens. *Qualitative**Research in Accounting & Management, 11, 1-17. doi:10.1108/QRAM-02-2014-0013
- Parsons, A. (2013). Using social media to reach consumers: A content analysis of official Facebook pages. *Academy of Marketing Studies Journal*, 17, 27-36. Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org
- Parveen, F., Jaafar, N. I., & Ainin, S. (2015). Social media usage and organizational performance: Reflections of Malaysian social media managers. *Telematics and Informatics*, 32(1), 67-78. doi:10.1016/j.tele.2014.03.001
- Patino, A., Pitta, D. A., & Quinones, R. (2012). Social media's emerging importance in market research. *Journal of Consumer Marketing*, 29, 233-237.

- doi:10.1108/07363761211221800
- Peltola, T., & Mäkinen, S. J. (2014). Influence of the adoption and use of social media tools on absorptive capacity in new product development. *Engineering Management Journal*, 26(3) 45-51. Retrieved from http://ieeexplore.ieee.org
- Petty, N. J., Thomson, O. P., & Stew, G. (2012). Ready for a paradigm shift? Part 2: Introducing qualitative research methodologies and methods. *Manual Therapy*, *17*, 378-384. doi:10.1016/j.math.2012.03.004
- Public Relations Tactics (2016). 2016 Trends: Video, work messaging. *Public Relations Society* of America, 23(1), 1. Retrieved from http://prsa.org
- Rajeev, B., Ahuvia, A., & Bagozzi, R. P. (2012). Brand love. *Journal of Marketing*, 76, 1-16. doi:10.1509/jm.09.0339
- Rao, U. (2012). Concepts in sample size determination. *Indian Journal of Dental Research*, 23, 660-664. doi:10.4103/0970-9290.107385
- Rapp, A., & Panagopoulos, N. G. (2012). Perspectives on personal selling and social media:

 Introduction to the special issue. *Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management*, 32, 301-304. doi:10.2753/PSS0885-3134320301
- Rauniar, R., Rawski, G., Yang, J., & Johnson, B. (2014). Technology acceptance model (TAM) and social media usage: An empirical study on Facebook. *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, 27(1), 6-30. doi:10.1108/JEIM-04-2012-0011
- Riemenschneider, C. K., Harrison, D. A., & Mykytyn, P. P. (2003). Understanding IT adoption decisions in small business: Integrating current theories. *Information & Management*, 40, 269-285. Retrieved from http://www.journals.elsevier.com/decision-support-systems/

- Robinson, O. C. (2014). Sampling in interview-based qualitative research: A theoretical and practical guide. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 11, 25-41. doi:10.1080/14780887.2013.801543
- Rogers, E. (2003). Diffusion of innovations (5th ed.). New York, NY: The Free Press.
- Rolland, S. E., & Parmentier, G. (2013). The benefit of social media. *International Journal of Market Research*, 55, 809-827. doi:10.2501/IJMR-2013-068
- Rosman, R., & Stuhura, K. (2013). The implications of social media on customer relationship management and the hospitality industry. *Journal of Management Policy and Practice*, 14, 18-26. Retrieved from http://www.na-businesspress.com/JMPP/rosman_abstract.html
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2012). *Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Sangasubana, N. (2011). How to conduct ethnographic research. *The Qualitative Report*, *16*, 567-573. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu
- Schlinke, J., & Crain, S. (2013). Social media from an integrated marketing and compliance perspective. *Journal of Financial Service Professionals*, 67(2) 85-92. Retrieved from http://www.financialpro.org/pubs/index.cfm
- Schultz, D. E., & Peltier, J. J. (2013). Social media's slippery slope: Challenges, opportunities, and future research directions. *Journal of Research in Interactive Marketing*, 7, 86-99. doi:10.1108/JRIM-12-2012-0054
- Shen, G. C. C., Chiou, J. S., Hsiao, C. H., Wang, C. H., & Li, H. N. (2016). Effective marketing communication via social networking site: The moderating role of the social tie. *Journal of Business Research*, 69, 2265-2270. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.12.040 0148-2963

- Simon, M. K., & Goes, J. (2013). Dissertation and scholarly research: Recipes for success. Lexington, KY: Dissertation Success.
- Smith, K. T. (2012). Longitudinal study of digital marketing strategies targeting Millennials. *Journal of Consumer Marketing*, 29, 86-92. doi:10.1108/07363761211206339
- Soo Jung, M., & Hadley, P. (2014). Routinizing a new technology in the newsroom: Twitter as a news source in mainstream media. *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media*, 58, 289-305. doi:10.1080/08838151.2014.906435
- Stephen, A. T., & Galak, J. (2012). The effects of traditional and social earned media on sales: A study of a microlending marketplace. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 49, 624-639. doi:10.1509/jmr.09.0401
- Sturges, J. E., & Hanrahan, K. J. (2004). Comparing telephone and face-to-face qualitative interviews: A research note, *Qualitative Research*, 4, 107-118.

 doi:10.1177/1468794104041110
- Taneja, S., & Toombs, L. (2014). Putting a face on small businesses: Visibility, viability, and sustainability the impact of social media on small business marketing. *Academy of Marketing Studies Journal*, 18, 249. Retrieved from http://alliedacademies.org
- Terry, D. J., & Hogg, M. A. (1996). Group norms and the attitude behaviour relationship: A role for group identification. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 22, 776-793. doi:10.1177/0146167296228002
- Thong, J. Y. (1999). An integrated model of information systems adoption in small businesses.

 **Journal of Management Information Systems, 15(4), 187-214. Retrieved from http://jmisweb.org

- Todor, R. D. (2016). Blending traditional and digital marketing. *Bulletin of the Transilvania University of Brasov, Series I: Engineering Sciences*, 9(1), 51-56. Retrieved from https://www.economicscience.org/
- Tsikerdekis, M., & Zeadally, S. (2014). Online deception in social media. *Communications of the ACM*, 57, 72-80. doi:10.1145/2629612
- U.S. Small Business Administration. (2016a). Office of Advocacy-Frequently asked questions.
 Retrieved from https://www.sba.gov/sites/default/files/advocacy/SB-FAQ2016 WEB.pdf
- U.S. Small Business Administration. (2016). 2016 Small business profile. Retrieved from https://www.sba.gov/advocacy
- U.S. Small Business Administration. (2015). Small business state and territory profiles report.

 Retrieved from https://www.sba.gov/advocacy
- Valentini, C. (2015). Is using social media "good" for the public relations profession? A critical reflection. *Public Relations Review*, 41(2), 170-177. doi:10.1016/j.pubrev.2014.11.009
- Vanwynsberghe, H., Boudry, E., Vanderlinde, R., & Verdegem, P. (2014). Experts as facilitators for the implementation of social media in the library? A social network approach. *Library Hi Tech*, *32*, 529-545. doi:10.1108/LHT-02-2014-0015
- Walaski, P. (2013). Social media. *Professional Safety, 58*, 40-49. Retrieved from http://www.asse.org/professionalsafety
- Ward, C., & Yates, D. (2013). Personal branding and e-professionalism. *Journal of Service Science (Online)*, 6, 101. doi:10.1108/17473611211261674
- Wasike, B. S. (2013). Framing news in 140 characters: How social media editors frame the news

- and interact with audiences via Twitter. *Global Media Journal*, *6*(1), 5. Retrieved from http://www.gmj.uottawa.ca
- Whiting, A., & Williams, D. (2013). Why people use social media: A uses and gratifications approach. *Qualitative Market Research*, *16*, 362-369. doi:10.1108/QMR-06-2013-0041
- Witkemper, C., Lim, C. H., & Waldburger, A. (2012). Social media and sports marketing:

 Examining the motivations and constraints of Twitter users. *Sport Marketing Quarterly*,

 21, 170-183. Retrieved from http://www.highbeam.com/publications/sport-marketing-quarterly
- Wolny, J., & Mueller, C. (2013). Analysis of fashion consumers' motives to engage in electronic word-of-mouth communication through social media platforms. *Journal of Marketing Management*, 29, 562-583. doi:10.1080/0267257X.2013.778324
- Wu, C. H., Kao, S. C., & Lin, H. H. (2013). Acceptance of enterprise blog for service industry. *Internet Research*, 23, 260-297. doi:10.1108/10662241311331736
- Yadav, M., Joshi, Y., & Rahman, Z. (2015). Mobile social media: The new hybrid element of digital marketing communications. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 189, 335-343. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.03.229
- Yang, T. (2012). The decision behaviour of Facebook users. *The Journal of Computer Information Systems*, 52, 50-59. Retrieved from http://iacis.org/jcis/jcis.php
- Yıldırım, A., Üsküdarlı, S., & Özgür, A. (2016). Identifying topics in microblogs using Wikipedia. *PloS one*, 11(3), e0151885. doi:10.6084/m9.figshare.2068665
- Yin, R. K. (2014). Case study research: Design and methods (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Yu, Y., Duan, W., & Cao, Q. (2013). The impact of social and conventional media on firm equity value: A sentiment analysis approach. *Decision Support Systems*, 55, 919-926. doi:10.1016/j.dss.2012.12.028
- Zhu, Y. Q., & Chen, H. G. (2015). Social media and human need satisfaction: Implications for social media marketing. *Business Horizons*, *58*, 335-345. doi:10.1016/j.bushor.2015.01.006

Appendix A: Interview Questions

The following interview questions will allow exploration of the strategies used by small restaurant business owners concerning social media marketing:

- 1. What social media marketing strategies do you use?
- 2. What motivated you to use social media marketing strategies?
- 3. What are the obstacles you faced while developing and implementing social media marketing strategies?
- 4. What social media strategies are most effective or beneficial for your company?
- 5. What social media strategies are least effective or beneficial for your company?
- 6. How do you measure the performance of each social media you engage in?
- 7. How do you use search engine optimization?
- 8. What additional strategies can you share regarding your social media marketing strategies?
- 9. What else should I be asking you about using social media marketing for restaurants?

Appendix B: Interview Protocol

- I. Commence with introduction of self and research study
- II. Thank them for their time
- III. Review consent form and answer any questions
- IV. Turn on recording device, noting the date and time
- V. Introduce participant with pseudonym/coded identification
- VI. Begin interview with question #1; follow through to the final question.
- VII. Follow up with additional questions
- VIII. End interview sequence; discuss member checking with participant
- IX. Thank them and verify their contact information
- X. End protocol.